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ABOUT THIS REPORT

The aim of this report is to inform our stakeholders about the strategic priorities, operations, 
performance and governance of the Western Australian Electoral Commission for the  
2021–22 financial year. 

This report should be read in the context that the desired outcome of the Western Australian 
Electoral Commission is to provide Western Australians with an electoral experience that they 
understand, trust and can access easily and efficiently.

LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL 
Hon John Quigley JP MLA
Attorney General; Minister for Electoral Affairs
Level 11, Dumas House
2 Havelock Street
West Perth WA 6005

Dear Minister

Western Australian Electoral Commission Annual Report 2021–2022

In accordance with the Western Australian Public Sector Annual Reporting guidelines for the  
2021–2022 reporting year and the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006, I submit for 
presentation to Parliament, the Annual Report of the Western Australian Electoral Commission 
for the year ended 30 June 2022. The report includes the Auditor General’s opinion on the 
Commission’s financial statements and performance indicators. 

Yours sincerely 

Robert Kennedy
ELECTORAL COMMISSIONER 

November 2022

Acknowledgement of Country
The Western Australian Electoral Commission recognises the Traditional Owners and custodians of 
the land on which we conduct electoral activities. We pay our respect to Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander people and cultures, and to Elders past, present and emerging. 
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FOREWORD

The Western Australian Electoral Commission 
(WAEC) performs a critical role as the steward 
of the electoral system in Western Australia, 
delivering election events, educating electors 
and children about how democracy operates, 
and monitoring the operation of the electoral 
system with the aim of recommending 
improvements to the Parliament, via 
Government. 

The 12 months since our last annual report  
have seen the Commission deliver the  
2021 Local Government Ordinary Elections 
as well as several Local Government 
Extraordinary Elections. We also commenced 
planning at the very end of the period for a 
state by-election following the resignation of 
the member for North West Central, Mr Vince 
Catania MLA. 

The year also involved the consolidation of 
reform efforts designed to build a stronger 
Commission and also more efficient and 
effective electoral services. Once again, the 
Commission’s staff proved resilient and 
proactive in embracing change in structures 
and processes, but also the challenges 
of the continuing pandemic. I am very 
proud to acknowledge the efforts of the 
Commission’s staff throughout the past year. 
They have exhibited dedication and hard 
work in delivering the idea and the practical 
application of democracy in Western Australia. 

In the year 2021–22 the Commission’s 
operational focus was on local government 
election events. This included the ordinary 
elections in October 2021 as well as  
9 extraordinary elections during the year.  
It has now become the norm for this number  
of unexpected electoral events when 
historically extraordinary elections would have 
numbered less than five a year. 

The Commission’s internal journey of 
continuous improvement has gathered pace 
this year with many of the recommendations 

arising from the review of the 2021 State 
General Election being implemented or  
subject to further design and study.  A 
significant review of the role of Returning 
Officers is under way. With Returning Officers 
in each electoral district, the role is a key one 
in helping the Commission deliver a state 
general election. The study has a focus on 
better facilities, support and an expanded 
range of functions for this important role at 
the 2025 State General Election. 

This year has also represented a consolidation 
for the Commission in terms of the senior 
executive team. Long standing Deputy 
Commissioner Chris Avent left us in October 
2021 after a dedicated period of service. 
I would like to take this opportunity to 
acknowledge Chris’ service to the State 
for many years in the delivery of electoral 
education and events. He also served for 
several periods as Acting Commissioner 
helping steer the Commission through difficult 
periods while they awaited a permanent 
Commissioner. Like all good election nerds  
(an in-house term of endearment) it is unlikely 
Chris’ involvement in our electoral system is 
complete and we look forward to his advice 
and counsel in the future.   

In November 2021 I welcomed Ms Courtney 
Barron as Deputy Commissioner and she has 
brought energy and a fresh pair of eyes to all 
of our operations. Similarly, Ms Shani Wood 
joined the Commission as Director Election 
Operations in June 2022 and Mr Gary Myers 
as Director Business Services, completing 
the senior executive team that will take the 
Commission forward into the future. 

Robert Kennedy
ELECTORAL COMMISSIONER
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THE YEAR IN REVIEW & LOOKING TO THE FUTURE

2021–2022 HIGHLIGHTS

1,300

39,780

98.76%

96.9%

Delivered electoral 
education and awareness 
to some 39,780 school 
students, trainee teachers  
and other adult groups 
including culturally & 
linguistically diverse (CaLD), 
participating in Electoral 
Education Centre programs.

of participating Western 
Australian teachers rated 
the effectiveness of our 
programmes as extremely 
effective or very effective. 

Managed the nomination of 

941 
candidates from across the 
State to contest the 471 local 
government vacancies across 
98 local governments.

30.21%

Conducted 98 elections 
for local governments at 
the October 2021 Local 
Government Ordinary Elections 
(including Cocos (Keeling) 
Islands for the first time), 
distributing over 

1.6 
million 

voting packages via post.

Enrolment participation 
peaked at 96.9% which is  
the highest rate ever.

Increased the participation 
rate for the 2021 Local 
Government Elections  
to 30.21% from the 2019  
level of 29.1%.

Development of more online 
materials during the reporting 
period allowed an additional 
1,300 students access to 
electoral awareness sessions.

Achieved highest ever 
Electoral Education Centre 
(EEC) interactions of 17,702 
in Term 4, 2021, representing 
a 19.37% increase on the 
previous year.

19.37%

Provided voting services 
for State and Legislative 
Council elections in 2 
interstate jurisdictions. 

Conducted 108 school 
elections with 25,380 
students participating.  

25,380

2 x
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THE YEAR IN REVIEW 
The Local Government Ordinary Elections 
held in October 2021 were the major 
electoral event for the Commission in the 
past 12 months. These elections ran smoothly 
from the Commission’s perspective, and 
our thanks go to all the Commission and 
local government staff who conducted the 
elections. An unusually high number of 
invalidity complaints seeking to challenge 
the outcome of ordinary elections in October 
2021 followed several close results. 

The invalidity complaint process is a rarely 
used one and the Commission finds itself in 
the awkward position of often being asked 
for an opinion on the merits of a complaint 
by a potential complainant and then being 
informed by the Court that it must respond 
to the claims made in the complaint. 
Consequently the Commission is often 
reluctant to provide an opinion, referring 
individuals to their own legal advice. This may 
make the Commission appear uncooperative 
however it is designed merely to protect the 
Commission from allegations of interfering in 
a potential court process. 

The Commission is looking at ways to 
improve education for candidates about 
invalidity complaints, including a better 
understanding of the role of the various 
parties in an invalidity complaint process. 
Given several of the complaints arising from 
the 2021 elections concerned requests for 
recounts of votes, the Commission has also 
improved training materials for Returning 
Officers so that the recount process, which if 
required should occur prior to the declaration 
of results, is better understood by participants  
in the election.  

Only one of the invalidity complaints was 
upheld by the Court. This was in the Shire 
of Serpentine-Jarrahdale where the election 
was marred by theft of ballot papers from 
electors’ mailboxes. In making its decision the 
Court noted that this was a matter beyond the 
influence of the Commission and found no 
fault with the Commission’s practices. While 
Police charged the individuals involved with 
stealing offences, a Commission investigation 
into more serious offences under the Electoral 
Act 1907 remains under way. The Commission 
is currently working with the Shire to arrange 
a fresh election as per the Court’s orders. 

All other complaints were dismissed by the 
Court or withdrawn by the complainant. 

The year has also continued the recent 
trend of high numbers of Local Government 
Extraordinary Elections. While the reasons 
for these elections are varied, each of 
these unplanned elections represents a 
considerable cost for a local government as 
well as an additional strain on Commission 
resources that are otherwise planning and 
preparing for state election events. It is 
understood the Government is working on 
amendments to the Local Government Act 1995 
that may alleviate this situation in the future.

The Commission’s warehouse in East Perth.



             

9WESTERN AUSTRALIAN ELECTORAL COMMISSION 2021–2022 ANNUAL REPORT

2021 STATE ELECTION REVIEW 
Separate to election events, the Commission has been busy with its review of the  
2021 State General Election. The review has moved into an implementation phase  
aligning with planning for the 2025 State General Election. 

TIMELINE

FEASIBILITY STUDIES UNDERWAY 

RECOMMENDATIONS

Number Of Recommendations From Surveys,  
Interviews And Direct Feedback

1515 pieces of individual feedback, issues, ideas and recommendations from 
WAEC staff, WAEC Executive Management, Returning Officers (ROs), Returning 
Officer Liaison Officers (ROLOs), polling staff, electors, candidates, parties, 
stakeholders and external consultants.

74

CONSULTATION 

Polling officials and voting manager surveys

All staff briefings

Candidate surveys Internal project teams

Interjurisdictional case studies

Returning officer feedback sessions

1515

119

           Feasibility studies underway focusing on ROLO and RO roles:
• increase the use of electronic roll mark off 
• centralised monitoring of training completion 
• digital forms for staff 
• expansion of the priority postal vote return program 
• streamline mail house contractor processes
• a user-friendly complaints management system 
• on-demand printing of Legislative Assembly ballot papers at early 

voting centres.

Action points to improve the delivery of election services.

8

Agreed changes in place by July 2024 latest.

1515 recommendations consolidated into 119 recommendations focusing 
on six key areas – structure, corporate systems, technology, planning, 
communication and election operations.
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LOOKING AHEAD 
The Commission’s journey towards a more 
professional electoral management body 
continues. Work is commencing on improving 
the efficiency and effectiveness of the 
Commission’s human resource and finance 
systems both of which are not ideally 
configured for the Commission’s operations.  
At the same time, like all government agencies 
the Commission has commenced its journey 
in transitioning to cloud based information 
technology arrangements. This work will 
continue in close collaboration with colleagues 
from the Office of Digital Government and 
also the advice and support of the Australian 
Cyber Security Centre to maintain the integrity 
and security of important information held by 
the Commission. The journey is periodically 
interrupted by election events, meaning work is 
suspended or must be completed prior to our 
core operating systems being required for an 
election event. 

Work has commenced on scoping a new 
technology assisted voting solution for eligible 
electors. At this time technology assisted 
voting is only available to a small cohort 
of electors who require assistance to vote 
due to different incapacities (defined by the 
legislation). Presently, the technology assisted 
voting solution used by the Commission is 
Telephone Assisted Voting. While meeting 
some of the requirements of a technology 
assisted voting solution, Telephone Assisted 
Voting is not the ideal way of ensuring eligible 
electors can independently and secretly 
cast their vote. Instead, the scoping work 
is examining options from among current 
solutions offered in the remote electronic 
voting (e.g. internet voting) and direct 
recording electronic (e.g. self-service kiosks 
or voting booths) solutions. This significant 
change will not only help us to provide an 

independent and secret voting option for 
those electors who require assistance to vote 
but will also set the foundation for possible 
future voting options for other stakeholders 
such as local governments, as it provides an 
opportunity to reduce costs and improve the 
reliability of election processes. 

Complaints management is undergoing an 
overhaul under the direction of the Deputy 
Commissioner and corporate executive with 
a focus on improving transparency and 
customer service. We also continue to improve 
advice to candidates based on feedback from 
participants and our staff. The Commission 
acknowledges that only with the positive and 
constructive feedback of election participants 
can we better refine our services.     

All improvement activities are being conducted 
with the 2025 State General Election in 
mind, however it is fortunate that the Local 
Government Ordinary Elections in October 
2023 and the North West Central State  
by-election (September 2022) will allow 
the Commission to trial new and improved 
elements. Already the Commission has adopted 
a streamlined election event program structure 
for the by-election ensuring responsibilities 
are clearly allocated and providing 
opportunities for improved collaboration 
between projects.

The Commission’s longstanding commentary 
on the inadequacies of its operating legislation 
are being considered with Government 
examining amendments to the Electoral Act 1907.  
This will mean significant work in the coming 
year in advising government of necessary 
changes.

There are several issues in the Commission’s 
operating environment that will impact in the 
coming year and beyond, with work already 
under way to address them. These include:
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• Recent State and Federal election events 
have recorded marginally declining 
turnout, which may indicate a lack of 
engagement by electors. Whilst a range 
of factors outside of the Commission’s 
control may be attributable to this 
declining turnout, the Commission is 
looking to identify how it can connect 
with and provide education to groups 
where elector turnout has traditionally 
been low.

• Social media continues to be 
increasingly harnessed by individuals 
and groups spreading misinformation 
and disinformation. As preparations are 
underway for the 2023 Local Government 
Elections, and the 2025 State General 
Elections, the Commission is looking 
at how to improve its engagement 
of audiences online to counter any 
misinformation and disinformation about 
the electoral process.

• The Commission received a high number 
of complaints during the 2021 Local 
Government Elections, resulting in 
increased resources being needed to 
support investigations and matters before 
the Court of Disputed Returns. This in 
turn increases the costs of managing the 
Local Government Elections. As part of its 
review of complaints management, the 
Commission is looking at what educative 
materials can be provided to staff and 
candidates to reduce the likelihood of 
issues arising during campaigns.  

• The Government is currently considering 
amendments to the Local Government  
Act 1995 which, if passed, will impact the 
way in which the 2023 Local Government 
Elections will be conducted. The 
Commission has identified which of its 
processes and systems will need to pivot 
to be able to respond to this significant 
change. 

Local Government postal elections. Staff at the count centre.
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WHO WE ARE AND WHAT WE DO

WHO WE ARE 
Established in 1987, the Western Australian 
Electoral Commission is committed to 
ensuring that Western Australia’s electoral 
system meets the highest standards of 
independence, impartiality and reliability. The 
Chief Executive Officer of the Commission is 
the Electoral Commissioner, who is appointed 
by the Governor in Council and is required to 
operate independently in all areas of election 
operations. The Commissioner is assisted by a 
Deputy Commissioner.

OUR PURPOSE
The Commission’s purpose is to provide 
Western Australians with an electoral 
experience that they understand, trust and can 
access easily and efficiently.

WHAT WE DO
The Commission is responsible for the 
conduct of parliamentary, local government 
and industrial elections, and referenda. 
The Commission also conducts a wide 
range of elections and polls for community 
organisations, universities and private 
companies by agreement. 

In conjunction with the management of 
electoral events, the Commission also: 
maintains the Western Australian electoral roll 
and provides a range of roll related products; 
administers the registration of political parties 
and the financial disclosure requirements 
that govern parties, candidates and third 
parties; delivers student and community 
focused electoral education and awareness 
programs; provides advice to the Government 
and Parliament on electoral reform; and 
performs important legislative compliance and 
regulatory functions.OUR VALUES
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GOAL 1

A modern electoral system that is:
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Secure from 
interference

Able to adapt to  
customer needs

Supported by  
modern legislation

Connected

Professional Demonstrating a  
positive working  

environment 

Recognising and  
celebrating success

GOAL 1

A modern electoral system that is:

GOAL 2
An organisation that is:

Based on high  
awareness and  

participation from  
the community

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES 2020–2025
The strategic direction for the Commission is outlined in its 2020–2025 Strategic Plan.

This plan provides the framework for developing our business plan, setting our priorities, 
allocating resources and evaluating our performance. It ensures that our activities deliver the 
following two goals.
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In order to achieve these goals, the following strategies are being pursued.

STRATEGIES TO ACHIEVE GOAL ONE

1. A modern Electoral Act
2. A secure operating system and election event processes
3. Voting services that meet the needs of the community
4. An electoral system protected from interference
5. Easy access for all to enrol and vote
6. Support for voters, candidates, parties and third party campaigners 

navigating the digital age

STRATEGIES TO ACHIEVE GOAL TWO

1. Leadership development for our current and future leaders
2. Succession planning backed by a workforce plan
3. Internal collaboration and communications
4. Training that matches needs and keeps our team professional 
5. Connection to the public sector and to our stakeholders

IF WE ARE DOING IT RIGHT IN 2025 THEN THE COMMISSION 
WILL SEE:
 A high awareness and participation from voters
 A modern electoral act
 Untarnished electoral outcomes
 High satisfaction from voters and other stakeholders
 Compliance with public sector accountability requirements 
 A positive working environment for the team 

✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
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STRUCTURE & GOVERNANCE

THE ELECTORAL COMMISSIONER
The Electoral Commissioner’s functions  
are prescribed in section 5F of the  
Electoral Act 1907. The Commissioner and 
the Deputy Commissioner serve a fixed term 
in office and are appointed by the Governor. 
Robert Kennedy is the current Electoral 
Commissioner.

THE CORPORATE EXECUTIVE 
The Commission’s senior management 
team meets regularly to consider high level 
management issues and to assist the Electoral 
Commissioner in setting strategic direction 
for the agency. The executive consists of the 
Electoral Commissioner; Deputy Commissioner; 
Director of Enrolment and Regulation; Director 
of Business Services; Director of Information 
and Communications Technology; and Director 
of Election Operations.

From left: Robert Kennedy, Shani Wood, Siviro Ripepi, Courtney Barron, Gary Meyers, Justin Harbord

_____ j 
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ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE
The Commission is comprised of the following 
core areas.

EXECUTIVE BRANCH
The Executive Branch was established as 
part of a restructure during 2021/22, and 
supports the Electoral Commissioner and 
the Deputy Commissioner to discharge 
their functions under the Electoral Act 1907. 
The Executive Branch is responsible for all 
internal and external communications across 
the Commission, including social media 
and publications. The Branch also develops 
and reviews internal policies, coordinates 
legislative reform and manages feedback and 
complaints received by the Commission.

The Electoral Education Centre now sits within 
the Executive Branch, and it is responsible for 
educating students and members of the public 
about our systems of voting. 

ELECTION OPERATIONS BRANCH
The Election Operations Branch undertakes 
the planning, conduct and review of all 
elections managed by the Commission. This 
includes State General Elections, by-elections 
and referenda, Local Government Ordinary 
Elections, extraordinary elections and polls, 
and a wide range of industrial, university, and 
private sector elections.

ENROLMENT AND REGULATION BRANCH
This branch is responsible for three key areas 
of the organisation:

Enrolment – maintaining an up-to-date and 
accurate enrolment information system to 
create electoral rolls and roll products in 
accordance with relevant legislation.

Funding, Disclosure and Registration –  
co-ordinating registration of political parties, 
the disclosure requirements of electoral 
entities (including parties, candidates and 
other persons) and determining funding 
entitlements for electoral participants.

Mapping – meeting the GIS information 
requirements of the Commission through 
maintenance of spatial systems and creation 
of map products.

INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATIONS 
TECHNOLOGY BRANCH 
The Information and Communications 
Technology branch provides day to day 
technology related support for all branches 
within the Commission, including planning, 
maintaining and securing the desktop, server 
and communications infrastructure. It also 
plays a critical role in maintaining and 
upgrading the Commission’s election systems 
as well as supporting third party products and 
services and providing information technology 
advice to the Commission.

BUSINESS SERVICES BRANCH
The Business Services Branch is responsible 
for the Commission’s financial management, 
human resources management, records 
management, facilities management, 
procurement and reception functions, that 
support the other branches to deliver on the 
key objectives of the Commission. 
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COMMITTEES (INTERNAL)
INTERNAL AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Commission utilises a reciprocal 
arrangement with the Western Australian 
Industrial Relations Commission who provide 
an independent Chair and member for our 
internal audit committee. The Committee met 
twice this year considering financial process 
audits.

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
The Commission maintains a separate Risk 
Management Committee comprising the 
Corporate Executive team. The focus of the 
Committee this year has been on reviewing the 
Commission’s risk register and implementing 
recommendations from a 2020 internal audit.  

ELECTION MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
During significant election events the 
Commission’s Corporate Executive and 
augmented membership meets as the Election 
Management Committee. This Committee was 
stood up for the Local Government Ordinary 
Elections in May 2021 and for the North West 
Central By-election in June 2022.

CRISIS MANAGEMENT TEAM 
The Commission’s Crisis Management Team 
met periodically during the year as the 
COVID-19 pandemic evolved. Operations were 
not impacted dramatically with staff absences 
manageable and following the fluctuations 
in community trends. The Commission was 
provided with rapid antigen tests which were 
made available for those staff having to isolate 
as close contacts at home or those required 
to attend the workplace during periods of 
isolation as a close contact. 

COMMITTEES & WORKING 
GROUPS (EXTERNAL)
COLLABORATION WITH INTERSTATE & 
FEDERAL ELECTORAL BODIES
The Australian and New Zealand electoral 
management bodies cooperate extensively at 
election times with the sharing of personnel 
and equipment and in between events with 
debate over policy matters and operational 
approaches to shared issues. Commissioners 
met as the Electoral Council of Australia and 
New Zealand (ECANZ) forum four times in the 
reporting period having reduced their meeting 
frequency as the pandemic reduced in severity.

Outside of the peak organisation, electoral 
commission staff from Australia and New 
Zealand also collaborate in several sub 
committees. The Indigenous Electoral 
Participation Working Group considers the 
challenges of improving electoral participation 
for indigenous electors in our respective 
countries. This extends from initiatives 
to improve enrolment levels through to 
innovative approaches to collecting votes in 
remote areas from a sometimes highly mobile 
population. A focus in this reporting year 
was the development of partnerships with 
indigenous agencies to promote enrolment. 

The ECANZ also agreed to create an election 
operations working group to share operational 
processes and solutions among the different 
organisations. With several other jurisdictions 
undergoing internal structure reviews and 
operational process improvements, including 
Western Australia, this working group will 
prove particularly beneficial. At a more 
strategic level the Deputy Commissioners also 
meet as a group to discuss policy initiatives 
impacting our various electoral systems.
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The Commission continues to cooperate with 
the Australian Electoral Commission (AEC) 
over the joint electoral roll agreement. This 
arrangement sees most of the enrolment 
activity in the State channelled through the 
AEC. The Commission has also opened an 
important avenue of cooperation with the AEC 
on indigenous participation, providing the 
opportunity for the Commission to benefit from 
some established AEC community partnerships 
but also providing our federal colleagues with 
a local perspective on indigenous engagement 
in Western Australia.

TRAINEESHIP AND INTERNSHIP 
PROGRAMS 
This year the Commission continued its 
university internship program with one 
student completing their internship during the 
months of June and July of 2022. The focus of 
the project work was on the format of ballot 
papers following changes to the composition 
of the Legislative Council. The internship 
program assists students in gaining an insight 
into what it is like to work in a professional 
environment while also undertaking valuable 
research for the Commission. 

The Commission also participated in the 
“Solid Futures Aboriginal traineeship program” 
coordinated by the Public Sector Commission, 
which supports young Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islanders to build up their skills and start 
their professional career within Government. 
The Commission has one trainee, working 
full time within the Executive Branch while 
completing course based work.

Processing votes at the count centre for a Local Government Election.

Trainee Caitlin Maciel with Robert Kennedy (left) and Courtney Barron (right).
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AGENCY PERFORMANCE

SUMMARY OF KEY RESULTS & 
ACHIEVEMENTS 
OUR KEY SERVICES

The Commission is responsible for the 
provision of services to its customers in the 
following areas: 
•  maintaining the State electoral roll 
•  conducting State Parliamentary elections 

and referenda, local government elections 
and other statutory and non-statutory 
elections; and

•  promoting community awareness of the 
electoral process.

WHAT WE SET OUT TO DO
• Maintain an accurate and up to date State 

electoral roll and provide a variety of 
quality and timely roll products. 

•  Achieve a high level of satisfaction and 
trust in the competent and impartial 
conduct of all elections for which the 
Commission is responsible. 

•  Increase community awareness of and 
engagement in electoral processes 
through effective education and public 
information programs.

WHAT WE ACHIEVED 
• Continued the effective management of 

local government, extraordinary and  
non-parliamentary election operations; 
plus State by-election and State general 
election planning within the environment 
of the COVID-19 global pandemic. 

• Provided the Sheriff with accurate and 
timely jury lists for each of the 15 jury 
districts and provided roll products to 
Members of Parliament and various other 
eligible clients. 

• Successfully delivered electoral education 
and awareness to some 39,780 school 
students, trainee teachers and various 

adult groups including Culturally and 
Linguistically Diverse (CaLD) who 
participated in Electoral Education Centre 
programs. 

• Conducted 19 non-parliamentary 
elections or polls for unions, universities 
and various private and community 
based organisations, with a high level of 
customer satisfaction.

• Successfully conducted 98 elections 
for local governments as part of the 
October 2021 Local Government Ordinary 
Elections including the distribution of 
over 1.6 million voting packages via post.

• Introduced three local governments to 
postal voting for their ordinary election 
for the first time. One of those shires, 
the Shire of Bruce Rock recorded a 
participation rate in excess of 60%.

• Increased the participation rate for  
2021 Local Government Ordinary 
Elections to 30.21% from the 2019  
level of 29.1%.

• Effectively managed the nomination of 
941 candidates from across the State 
to contest the 471 local government 
vacancies across 98 local governments.

• Commenced the process for  
re-registration of all existing registered 
political parties following legislative 
amendments proclaimed in 2021.

• Successfully conducted 9 extraordinary 
elections for local governments.

• Undertook a total of 138 roll closes for 
Local Government Ordinary Elections 
and 18 roll closes for Extraordinary 
Local Government Elections, including 
for in person elections not run by the 
Commission. 

• Provided voting services for elections in 
two other states (being the 2022 South 
Australian State Election and 2022 
Tasmanian Legislative Council elections.)
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OUTPUT & RESULTS
OUTPUT 1: ELECTION MANAGEMENT 
The reporting year commenced with the 
Commission moving from the wrap up of the 
2021 State General Election straight into 
planning and implementation for the Local 
Government Ordinary Elections in October 
2021. These elections saw the Commission 
engaged by a record number of local 
governments (98) to conduct their ordinary 
elections. Ninety-two of these were postal 
elections with a further six conducted as  
in-person elections. 

Over 1.6 million voting packages were sent 
out to electors across the state through two 
mailing house contractors engaged by the 
Commission. Package delivery was prioritised 
for country and remote areas with an average 
three weeks available to electors in those 
areas to return their completed voting 
packages. Metropolitan electors received 
on average two weeks to complete and 
return their voting materials. There were 
some minor errors in package insertion 
with a small number of local governments 
affected. Replacement packages were issued 
immediately in those affected areas and 
the error identified at the mailing house. 
Procedures have been reviewed and improved 
for the 2023 ordinary elections to avoid a 
repeat of this incident. 

The turnout figure (which measures elector 
participation) for the 2021 Local Government 
Elections was 30.21%, slightly higher than 
October 2019 29.1% but below the 2017 
election (34.5%).  

Generally, elector participation was highest in 
smaller non-metropolitan local governments.  
For example, the Shires of Victoria Plains, 
Bruce Rock and Yalgoo each achieved a 
participation rate of above 60%.  

Turnout for the postal elections, at 30.21% was 
higher than the turnout for in person elections, 
at 24.33%.  Postal elections conducted by 
the Commission ranged in size from 151,927 
postal packages for the City of Stirling, to  
97 postal packages for the Shire of Yalgoo.   

The number of candidates nominating was 
slightly down compared to the past two 
ordinary elections. Interestingly, the number 
of vacancies that remained unfilled due 
to an absence of nominations was well 
above recent elections at 8. This may be 
symptomatic of elector disengagement with 
politics or a reflection of smaller sized local 
governments struggling to find candidates. 
Local governments left in this situation 
are required to conduct an additional or 
extraordinary election shortly after the 
ordinary election period concludes. The eight 
vacant positions were all in non-metropolitan 
local governments. Sixteen percent of all 
councillor vacancies were elected unopposed, 
the highest figure since 2013. The Commission 
also conducted 13 mayoral or presidential 
elections, four of which were elected 
unopposed. Of all successful candidates in the 
elections 51% were new to local government 
or were not sitting members re-elected. These 
numbers suggest that local government 
remains a vibrant part of our electoral system 
attracting much interest from new participants 
wishing to represent their local communities. 

Participation, defined as those eligible 
electors who return a completed voting 
package, remains stubbornly in the 25–35% 
range overall. It is dominated by electors 
aged 55 years or more with that age 
group representing just over half of those 
participating in local government elections. 
Electors aged between 18 and 34 represent 
less than 15% of those returning completed 
voting packages.
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LOCAL GOVERNMENT ELECTIONS – STATE-WIDE
At the 2021 Local Government Elections the Commission effectively managed  
98 local government elections, in which 941 candidates contested 
471 vacancies.

Shire of Jerramungup

Shire of Ashburton

City of Albany

Shire of Broome

Shire of Broomehill 
-Tambellup

Shire of Carnarvon

Shire of Chapman Valley

Shire of Chittering
Shire of Coolgardie

Shire of Coorow

Shire of Cue

Shire of Dandaragan

Shire of Denmark

Shire of Derby-West Kimberley

Shire of Dundas

Shire of East Pilbara

Shire of Esperance

Shire of Exmouth

Shire of Lake Grace

Shire of Three Springs

Shire of Yalgoo

Shire of Moora

City of Greater Geraldton

Shire of Perenjori

City of Karratha

Shire of Katanning
Shire of Gnowangerup

City of Kalgorile-Boulder

Shire of Kent

Shire of Hall Creek

Town of Port Hedland

Shire of Gingin

Shire of Ravensthorpe

Shire of Wyndham-East 
Kimberley

Shire of Wiluna

Shire of Upper Gascoyne

Shire of Menzies

Shire of Manjimup

Shire of Shark Bay

Shire of York

Shire of Plantagenet

Shire of Irwin

Shire of Cocos (Keeling) Islands

Shire of Victoria Plains
Shire of Mount Marshall
Shire of Wongan-Ballidu
Shire of Toodyay
Shire of Northam
Shire of Dowerin
Shire of Tammin
Shire of Yilgarn
Shire of Mundaring
Shire of Merredin
Shire of Brookton
Shire of Bruce Rock

Shire of Augusta-Margaret
Shire of Boddington

Shire of Bridgetown-Greenbushes
City of Bunbury

City of Busselton
Shire of Capel
Shire of Collie

Shire of Dardanup
Shire of Donnybrook-Balingup

Shire of Harvey
City of Kalamunda
City of Mandurah

Shire of Murray
Shire of Narrogin

Shire of Serpentine-Jarrahdale
Shire of Waroona

City of Armadale
City of Bassendean

City of Bayswater
City of Belmont

Town of Cambridge
City of Canning

Town of Claremont
City of Cockburn

Town of Cottesloe
Town of East Fremantle

City of Fremantle
City of Gosnells

City of Joondalup
City of Kwinana
City of Melville

Town of Mosman Park
City of Nedlands

Shire of Peppermint 
Grove

City of Perth
City of Rockingham
City of South Perth

City of Stirling
City of Subiaco

City of Swan
Town of Victoria Park

City of Vincent
City of Waneroo

• 

• 
• 

• • 

• 

• 

• 

• 
• 

• 
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LG NAME ELECTION DATE VACANCIES REASON FOR VACANCY

Contested Election
City of Armadale (River Ward)  3/07/2021  1 Elected to State Parliament
Shire of Ravensthorpe  10/12/2021  2 1 x Resignation
     1 x Unfilled at 2021 Ordinary Election
Shire of Wyndham-East Kimberley    12/03/2022  1 Resignation
Shire of Coolgardie  14/05/2022  1 Resignation
Town of Port Hedland  20/05/2022  1 Resignation
Shire of East Pilbara (South Ward)    18/06/2022  1 Resignation 

Elected Unopposed
Shire of Kent  10/12/2021  2 Unfilled at 2021 Ordinary Election
Shire of Tammin  18/12/2021  1 Unfilled at 2021 Ordinary Election

Vacancy Unfilled
Shire Chapman Valley  26/11/2021  1 Unfilled at 2021 Ordinary Election

Aside from the Local Government Ordinary Elections conducted in October 2021 the  
Commission also supervised extraordinary elections on 9 occasions during the reporting period. 
An extraordinary local government election is required under the Local Government Act 1995 to 
fill vacancies that arise in between ordinary elections. The details of these elections in 2021–22 
are contained in the following table:

EXTRAORDINARY LOCAL GOVERNMENT ELECTIONS CONDUCTED 
1 JULY 2021 TO 30 JUNE 2022

Processing Local Government postal elections packages. Scanning Local government postal voting packages.
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The Commission conducted a number of non-parliamentary elections. These are usually 
completed at the request of private organisations or pursuant to the Industrial Relations Act 1979.  
The following table details these elections for the period 2021–22.

NAME OF ORGANISATION  DATE OF ELECTION

NON PARLIAMENTARY ELECTIONS

NON PARLIAMENTARY ELECTIONS CONDUCTED IN 2021–2022

MyLeave 30/07/2021
Fire and Emergency Superannuation Fund 13/08/2021
Civil Contractors Federation Western Australia Ltd 23/08/2021
Edith Cowan University – enrolled students  9/09/2021
Edith Cowan University – academic staff representative  10/09/2021
Public Transport Authority – Nowergup depot 22/09/2021
University of Western Australia Student Guild 23/09/2021
National Trust of Australia (WA) 28/09/2021
Health Services Union of Western Australia (Union of Workers) 25/10/2021
Department of Transport – Marine Safety (Moorings Ballot) 4/11/2021
Master Plumbers and Gasfitters Association 17/11/2021
Master Painters, Decorators and Signwriters 18/11/2021
Municipal, Road Boards, Parks and Racecourse, Employees' Union of Workers 23/11/2021
Yugunga Nya People's Trust 17/12/2021
CBH General Election 14/02/2022
The Returned & Services League of Australia WA Branch Incorporated 17/02/2022
Curtin Student Guild 24/03/2022
University of Western Australia Academic Staff Association 13/05/2022
WA Hotels & Hospitality Association 1/06/2022

The Commission supported our interstate colleagues by providing early voting services for the 
South Australian State General Election and the Tasmanian Legislative Council election. 

EARLY VOTING SERVICE PROVIDED FOR OTHER JURISDICTIONS



             

25WESTERN AUSTRALIAN ELECTORAL COMMISSION 2021–2022 ANNUAL REPORT

OUTPUT 2: ELECTORAL ROLL 
MANAGEMENT 

The Commission operates and maintains an 
enrolment information database for Western 
Australia separate from the Commonwealth 
with a small team of dedicated enrolment staff. 
To enable electors to enrol and update their 
details through a single enrolment process, all 
initial enrolment requests are processed by the 
Australian Electoral Commission, in the first 
instance, pursuant to a Commonwealth/State 
arrangement. 

The Commission is continuing to work with 
the AEC on developing and implementing 
processes that allow electors to transact in 
a way that is convenient for them, taking 
advantage of opportunities for the use of 
online applications with electronic signatures 
and evidence of identity. Importantly, the 
measures also seek to ensure that the integrity 
of the electoral roll is maintained by having 
appropriate controls in place to verify the 
identity of the applicant.

General local government elections 
typically give rise to reviews of district and 
ward boundaries before such an event. 
During the 2021 reporting period, 10 local 
government districts amended or abolished 
their boundaries, requiring updates to the 
entitlements of all affected electors.

The 2021 Local Government Elections took 
place in October. The Commission produced 
138 residents rolls (including one for Cocos 
(Keeling) Islands for the first time). The 
Commission provides resident rolls to local 
governments regardless of whether the 
Commission is conducting the election. More 
than 600 candidates rolls were also produced, 
pursuant to the Local Government Act 1995, to 
assist candidates with campaigning.

Outside of those elections in the latter part of 
2021, the enrolment team produced a further  
18 rolls in relation to Local Government 
Extraordinary Elections to fill vacancies that 
arose across the reporting year.

The Commission continues to take advantage 
of technological improvements to streamline 
enrolment-related processing. With changes 
made to jury districts by the Sheriff’s office in 
early 2022, the required updates were able 
to be applied spatially (using maps created 
specifically for the purpose), allowing staff 
to focus on auditing the updates rather than 
having to undertake manual processing.  
The result was more accurate and timely 
updates that continue in use for the 
maintenance of elector jury roll allocations.

OUTPUT 3: ELECTORAL AWARENESS 
AND ENGAGEMENT 

The Commission’s Electoral Education 
Centre is responsible for delivering civics 
education to the Western Australian 
community in collaboration with Democracy 
Precinct partners Parliament House and the 
Constitutional Centre of Western Australia. 

COVID-19 once again impacted heavily on our 
ability to deliver our programs both internally 
and externally. The very difficult decision was 
made to suspend all face to face presentations 
for a period of 12 weeks from early March, with  
normal activities resuming from 30 May 2022.  
It was deemed that the risk was too great both 
to staff and the clients that we serve. Despite 
our inability to deliver normal presentations, 
we were still able to have interactions over  
the 12 month period with 39,780 individuals.  
This represented a decrease of just over 11% 
on the previous financial year. 

The Centre’s staff co-ordinated 108 school 
council elections. This worthwhile activity 
allows students the opportunity to participate 
in the voting process for representatives within 
their school environment. Elections in the last 
financial year had 25,380 students participate, 
representing a slight increase of 3.9% on the 
previous year. 
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2021 saw the Electoral Education Centre have 
their busiest term 4 ever, with interactions 
totalling 17,702. This represented an increase 
of 19.37% on the same period in the previous 
year.

During our 12 week hiatus from presenting, 
staff at the Electoral Education Centre were 
able to develop a raft of new material to not 
only assist throughout the pandemic, but to 
have a cache of educational resources that will 
enable remote and regional communities that 
are unable to visit the Centre, the same access 
to valuable material.

Some of our new initiatives include:

PRIMARY STUDENTS
An online face-to-face presentation that is 
delivered via Teams by one of our experienced 
and passionate educators. This fully immersive 
interactive presentation answers the why, who 
and how of elections. Students participate in 
a mock election to help understand how the 
preferential voting system works. Worksheets 
are provided to encourage students to be 
active listeners throughout the presentation, 
while post presentation resources are 
available to help consolidate students’ 
learning.

SECONDARY STUDENTS
A PowerPoint complete with embedded 
video that aims to answer all the questions 
that are posed in a face to face presentation, 
Why, Who and How of elections? The format 
enables teachers to run the program at 
suitable time that fits in with their timetable. 
An accompanying worksheet is designed to 
encourage students to be active listeners 
throughout the video presentation and helps 
to prepare them for an in-class mock election 
to demonstrate the preferential voting system. 
Post presentation resources are provided to 
help consolidate in-class learning.

POLITICS & LEGAL STUDIES
A PowerPoint video with embedded audio 
comprehensively covers a variety of key 
elements. The flexibility of format enables 
the teacher to run the program in class 
over several lessons if required. Additional 
resources such as a worksheet and ballot 
paper templates allow for a mock election 
to be conducted in class. A Kahoot quiz 
link is forwarded post presentation to help 
consolidate class learning.

The development of these programmes 
provided access for an additional 1,300 
students to continue on their civics and 
citizenship journey.

The Electoral Education Centre has continued 
their successful association with AMEP (Adult 
Migrant English Program) run through the 
South Metropolitan TAFE. Presenters delivered 
programs at the Armadale, Thornlie and 
Carlisle campus’ to over 200 potential new 
Australians. 

Professional development seminars for  
pre-service teachers continue to be provided 
in conjunction with Parliament House and the 
Constitutional Centre of Western Australia. 
Edith Cowan University and the University of 
Western Australia were able participate in 
the last financial year. This valuable activity 
engages teachers before placement, thereby 
providing an opportunity to embed electoral 
education as part of their civics education 
teaching.
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KEY RESULTS AREA 1 –  
OUR CLIENTS 
SPECIALIST ELECTOR SERVICES

WHO ARE OUR CLIENTS? 
All Western Australians eligible to vote in 
State or local government elections are 
clients of the Commission. Our services take 
us beyond this cohort however, as we reach 
out to students through our awareness 
and curriculum activities at the Electoral 
Education Centre and our out-reach visits to 
schools. These services are described further 
below. The education staff also work with 
community groups throughout the State to 
reach multicultural and Aboriginal electors in 
particular. 

Given the majority of Local Government 
Elections conducted by the Commission are 
postal elections there is a reduced demand 
for specialist elector services however the 
Commission maintains access to translator 
services for electors who require assistance 
with instructions on how to vote. Materials  
are also available for distribution via 
community groups and local governments 
themselves. The Department of Local 
Government, Sporting and Cultural Industries 
has responsibility for the promotional 
advertising campaign associated with the 
Local Government Ordinary Elections.  

Surveys are undertaken of local government 
clients who engage the Commission to 
conduct their elections with generally positive 
results received. The Commission also worked 
with the Western Australian Local Government 
Association to provide awareness sessions and 
candidate information briefings ahead of the 
ordinary election process. Online material was 
also developed to assist candidates understand 
their responsibilities and following feedback 
this will be refined and improved for the  
2023 Local Government Elections.

ELECTORAL EDUCATION INTERACTIONS 
The Commission’s Electoral Education 
Centre located in the Democracy Precinct 
in West Perth is responsible for delivering 
civics education to the Western Australian 
community in conjunction with Precinct 
partners Parliament House and the 
Constitutional Centre of Western Australia. 
Clients include primary and secondary school 
students and their teachers, students of the 
Adult Migrant English Program run through the 
South Metropolitan TAFE where EEC presenters 
delivered programs on campus to potential 
new Australians; and pre-service teachers 
through professional development seminars 
delivered in conjunction with Parliament 
House and the Constitutional Centre of 
Western Australia.  During the reporting year, 
the EEC delivered electoral education and 
awareness to some 39,780 clients.

SERVICES TO PARTIES AND POLITICAL 
CANDIDATES 

FUNDING & DISCLOSURE 
The Commission administered disclosure 
requirements for 23 political parties (19 
registered and 4 not registered) and seven 
associated entities. The annual returns lodged 
during the reporting period covered the events 
relating to the 2021 State General Election, 
hence figures were higher than other years, 
notwithstanding that five parties lodged ‘Nil’ 
returns.

The Constitutional and Electoral Legislation 
Amendment (Electoral Equality) Act 2021, 
assented to on 24 November 2021, introduced 
a number of amendments to the Electoral Act 
1907 in relation to party registration  
including –

• the requirement for all existing parties to 
apply for continued registration by  
24 November 2022 if they wished to 
remain registered
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• the requirement to lodge an annual 
return confirming continuing eligibility;

• a fee of $2,000 to lodge an application to 
register a political party;

• signed declarations from each of at least 
500 members who are enrolled on the 
electoral roll;

• a reduction in the permitted length of a 
registered party name to no more than  
four words;

• that two or more political parties cannot 
rely on the same elector for the purposes 
of registration; and

• that parties seeking registration must 
lodge an application not less than  
12 months prior to a general election to 
be able to contest as a registered party.  

Preparation for the applications for continuing 
registration formed the main body of work 
relating to the amendments that occurred 
during the reporting year.

ROLL PRODUCTS 
The Commission continues to produce a range 
of roll products for various clients. While 
the focus is on supplying rolls for electoral 
events, the Commission is also required, by 
law, to provide particular individuals and 
organisations, such as members of parliament 
or political parties, with electoral roll details. 
The Electoral Commissioner is also authorised 
to provide enrolment information to other 
entities where the public interest in providing 
the information is determined to outweigh 
privacy concerns around the release of the 
data. Enrolment information must only be used 
for the purposes for which it was requested 
and supplied, with penalties applying for 
misuse.

KEY RESULTS AREA 2 –  
OUR PEOPLE  
THE COMMISSION’S WORKFORCE
STAFF PROFILE
The Commission has a small, committed 
workforce, which consisted of 46 staff at  
30 June 2022. However due to the specific 
temporary labour requirements for election 
events, the Commission also engages 
additional casual staff during the year to 
support state government, local government 
and non-parliamentary elections. 

CASUAL STAFF ENGAGED DURING THE YEAR 
FOR ELECTION EVENTS

• 653 Local Government Election Officials 
• 9 State General Election Officials 
• 25 Non-Parliamentary Election Officials.

STAFF EMPLOYED BY THE COMMISSION (CASUAL, 
CONTRACT AND PERMANENT) at 30 JUNE 2022

 Male   Female
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L2

L3

L4

L5

L6

L7

L8

NON-CEO

CEO
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KEY RESULTS AREA 3 –  
OUR ORGANISATION 
In managing the Commission our objective is 
to be professional, innovative, cost-effective 
and efficient in all projects and programs, 
applying best practice to all we do. Strategies 
in place to achieve this include maintaining 
the highest of standards in corporate 
governance; continuously improving our 
systems, methodologies and processes; valuing 
ideas and knowledge sharing; and aligning 
tasks with Commission objectives. 

The Commission’s reputation as an 
organisation that delivers accurate, timely 
and cost effective election outcomes is 
very much dependent on the thoroughness 
of our planning, the quality and training 
of our staff, the efficacy of our systems 
and processes, and the application of the 
highest standards of impartiality, fairness 
and probity. Our managerial and decision-
making practices are reflective of these 
organisational considerations. Best practice 
in corporate governance is a key objective of 
the Commission’s Corporate Executive and 
entails the consideration and approval of the 
Commission policies, setting strategic direction 
and resource allocation, as well as monitoring 
Commission performance progress against 
targets and resource use. 

In the reporting year the Commission 
commenced a review of our complaints 
management processes with the aim of 
streamlining communication channels and 
improving response times for complaints. 
In addition, the Business Services team 
have commenced investigating potential 
efficiencies in sharing finance and human 
resource systems with other agencies. As a 
small organisation there may be benefits in 
accessing systems utilised by other similar 
sized agencies.

KEY GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES
The Commission’s overall governance follows 
the following key principles: 
• Adherence to corporate and public sector 

codes of conduct 
• Statutory compliance with applicable 

legislation and regulation 
• Ensuring effective internal checks and 

controls and the implementation of 
recommendations from internal and 
external auditors 

• Continual monitoring and review of risk 
management strategies 

• Regular monitoring of financial and 
operational performance 

• Clear links between operational plans and 
the Strategic Plan 

• Open and transparent communication, 
knowledge sharing and mentoring 

• Succession planning.

RISK MANAGEMENT
The Commission’s Internal Audit Committee 
met twice during the 2021/2022 year. 
The Committee considered reports on the 
temporary election workforce contract for the 
State General Election as well as a review 
of the financial management manual. The 
Commission’s Risk Management Committee 
commenced a review of the organisation’s risk 
register which has not been conducted for 
some time as well as developing a new risk 
management framework for the organisation. 
This resulted from a previous audit report 
completed in 2020. Following requests from 
staff for increased guidance with procurement 
activities, the Commission promoted key 
governance materials about procurement 
developed by the Department of Finance.
The Election Management Committee 
met throughout the period of the Local 
Government Ordinary Elections in October 
2021 to consider risks associated with those 
individual elections. 
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FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT
The Commission has an annual operational 
budget of approximately $8 million, 
supplemented by approximately $18.5 
million for State Government Elections 
and approximately $5.6 million for Local 
Government biennial Elections in the years 
that they fall due.

For 2021–22, the Commission incurred total 
costs of approximately $16 million, which 
included costs for the Local Government 
Ordinary Elections. Planning has already 
commenced for the 2025 State General 
Election, and it is anticipated that the growth 
in popularity of early voting and improved 
elector and staff services will require the 
existing budget allocation to be reviewed. 

INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATIONS 
TECHNOLOGY 
The past year focused on cyber security 
resilience and improvement projects to fortify 
the Commission’s environment to reduce risk, 
ensure compliance, and secure corporate and 
elector information assets. Cloud infrastructure 
migration continued with attentive planning 
for data and application portability, 
interoperability, data integrity, and business 
continuity. Stemming from learning outcomes 
from the 2021 State General Election, 
application enhancements were developed to 
streamline usability and operability to assist 
with election management processes.

COMPLAINTS MANAGEMENT
Complaints and feedback are managed by the 
Executive Branch. Upon receipt, complaints 
and feedbacks are triaged according to their 
urgency and sensitivity, and timelines for 
response assigned accordingly.

During the reporting year, the key activity for 
the Complaints Management team related 
to the 2021 Local Government Elections, 
where over 400 queries and complaints were 
resolved. 

The key issues raised in complaints and 
feedback for the Local Government Elections 
were as follows:

• WAEC Operations (34%)
• Candidate Conduct (24%)
• Election Material (17%)
• Electoral Rolls (8%)
• Candidacy (6%)
• Other (11%).

84% of complaints and queries received during 
the 2021 Local Government Elections were 
resolved within 24 hours, with the assigned 
deadline (which depends on the urgency and 
sensitivity of the issue) met for 99% of the 
complaints and queries received. 

For all complaints and queries received,  
the Electoral Commission takes an educative 
approach in complaints, and in the first 
instance will work with parties collaboratively 
to resolve issues. One potential breach of the 
Local Government Act 1995 during the course 
of the 2021 Local Government Elections led 
to an investigation being conducted by the 
Commission, which at the time of writing is 
still under way.
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DISCLOSURE & LEGAL COMPLIANCE

The Commission complied with the following legislation in the performance of its function.

ADMINISTRATIVE OPERATIONAL

Criminal Code Constitution Act 1889

Disability Discrimination Act 1992 (Cth) Constitution Acts Amendments Act 1899

Disability Services Act 1993 Election of Senators Act 1903

Equal Opportunity Act 1984 Electoral Act 1907

Electronic Transactions Act 2011 Electoral (Ballot Paper Forms) Regulations 1990

Evidence Act 1906 Electoral (Political Finance) Regulations 1996

Financial Management Act 2006 Electoral Regulations 1996

Freedom of Information Act 1992 Fines, Penalties and Infringement Notices Enforcement Act 1994

Industrial Relations Act 1979 Guardianship and Administration Act 1990

Parliamentary Commissioner Act 1971 Industrial Arbitration (Unions Elections) Regulations 1980

Procurement Act 2020 Juries Act 1957

Public and Bank Holidays Act 1972 Local Government Act 1995

Public Sector Management Act 1994 Local Government (Elections) Regulations 1997

Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003 Local Government (Administration) Regulations 1996

Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 Referendums Act 1983

State Records Act 2000 Referendums Regulations 1984

State Superannuation Act 2000 Working with Children (Criminal Record Checking) Act 2004

State Superannuation (Transitional and 
Consequential Provisions) Act 2000

Work Health and Safety Act 2020

Workers’ Compensation and Injury 
Management Act 1981 

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LEGISLATION
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COMPLIANCE WITH PUBLIC SECTOR 
STANDARDS & ETHICAL CODES – 
SECTION 31(1) OF THE PUBLIC SECTOR 
MANAGEMENT ACT 1994
The Commission complies with all public sector 
standards and ethical codes. All Commission 
staff are expected to adhere to the Public 
Sector Commissioner’s Instruction 7 – Code of 
Ethics, with core values being personal integrity, 
accountability and maintaining respectful 
relationships that recognise the interests, safety 
and welfare of all clients and stakeholders. 

These standards are reinforced in Commission 
policies and practices, particularly in the Code 
of Conduct, which forms part of the staff 
induction program. They are regularly reinforced 
to staff, and in the lead up to key electoral 
events. Access to Public Sector Commission 
ethical codes are available on the staff intranet. 

During the reporting year, the Commission 
updated its conflict of interest policies and 
procedures, and conducted internal training, to 
ensure more robust processes for recording and 
managing conflicts. 

INTEGRITY/CODE OF CONDUCT
The Commission is committed to providing 
a fair workplace. All staff are expected to act 
consistently with the Commission’s Code of 
Conduct, which provides practical guidance 
on a range of ethical issues and reinforces the 
Commission’s commitment to transparency, 
accountability, professionalism, respect, 
customer focus and collaboration. 

The Commission is committed to providing 
a highly professional and quality service to 
the public and treating all stakeholders with 
the utmost courtesy. Staff are expected to act 
with absolute integrity at all times and be 
scrupulous in the use of official information, 
equipment, and facilities. 

During the year online training modules were 
completed by staff covering: occupational 
safety and health; cyber and information 
security compliance; bullying/harassment/
sexual harassment awareness; equity and 
diversity; internal governance; and Aboriginal 
and Torres Straight Islander cultural awareness.

Code of Conduct

The Commission’s Code of Conduct provided at  
induction and available on the Commission website.
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TOTAL EXPENDITURE 2021–2022

SECTION 175ZE ELECTORAL ACT 1907
In compliance with section 175ZE of the 
Electoral Act 1907 the Commission reports on 
expenditure incurred during the financial year 
in relation to advertising, market research 
organisations, polling organisations, direct 

mail organisations and media advertising 
organisations. This year included costs of 
delivering postal voting packages associated 
with the Local Government Ordinary Elections. 
Total expenditure was $2.63 million. Details 
are as follows:

RECORD KEEPING PLAN
The Commission maintains an approved 
Record Keeping Plan in accordance with 
section 19 of the State Records Act 2000.  
The Commission’s Plan ensures records 
are created, maintained and disposed of in 
accordance with standards set by the State 
Records Commission of Western Australia. The 
Commission’s staff induction program provides 
new employees with records management 
training, outlining their record keeping 
obligations. Records are available in hardcopy 
and electronically through the Commission’s 
intranet and document management system. 
The Commission’s Plan has recently been 
reviewed, updated and submitted to the State 
Records Commission as required every five 
years under the State Records Act 2000.

WORK HEALTH AND SAFETY
Western Australia’s Work Health and Safety  
Act 2020 was implemented in March 2022, 
replacing the Occupational Safety and Health 
Act 1984 and other related Acts that contained 
occupational health and safety provisions.

The Commission and its leadership team is 
committed to the following aims of the new 
legislation, namely to: 

• protect the health and safety of workers 
and other people by eliminating or 
minimising risks arising from work or 
workplaces;

• ensure fair and effective representation, 
consultation and cooperation to address 
and resolve health and safety issues in 
the workplace;

Advertising agencies Nil

Polling organisations       Nil

Market research organisations Nil

Direct mail organisations 2,600 Australia Post 

T&C Courier

Toll Transport Pty Ltd

Quickmail

Star Track Express

       2,514

              3 

            62  

            19 

              2 
Media advertising organisations 28 West Australian Newspapers Ltd  

Initiative Media Australia Pty. Ltd

              8

            20

CATEGORY AMOUNT
($000) ORGANISATION AMOUNT

($000)
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PERIOD FATALITIES
LOST TIME 
INJURY OR 
DISEASE

SEVERE 
CLAIMS

LOST TIME 
INJURY 

SEVERITY 
RATE

01/07/2017 to 
30/06/2018 0 0 0 0

01/07/2018 
to 

30/06/2019 
0 0 0 0

01/07/2019 
to 

30/06/2020
0 0 0 0

01/07/2020  
to  

30/06/2021 
0 0 0 0

01/07/2021  
to  

30/06/2022
0 0 0 0

WORK HEALTH AND SAFETY STATISTICS

CREDIT CARDS – AUTHORISED USE
There was no personal expenditure incurred by 
staff using Corporate Credit cards as specified in 
Treasurer’s Instruction TI 321.

CANDIDATE DEPOSITS TRUST STATEMENT
No changes were made to the statement in 
2021–22.

• encourage unions and employer 
organisations to take a constructive role 
in improving work health and safety 
practices;

• assist businesses and workers to 
achieve a healthier and safer working 
environment;

• promote information, education and 
training on work health and safety;

• provide effective compliance and 
enforcement measures; and

• deliver continuous improvement and 
progressively higher standards of work 
health and safety.

The Commission has a Health and Safety 
Committee which meets regularly to discuss 
work health and safety related issues 
including:

• having a positive safety culture and 
strong safety management system that 
encourages and supports staff to apply 
relevant procedures and processes to 
protect themselves and others from harm;

• championing at senior leadership levels 
healthy and safe workplaces; and

• providing and promoting resources, 
support and training so all staff can carry 
out their work safely and achieve safety 
outcomes.

The Commission has also provided access to 
the following preventative health benefits to 
employees across the year: 

• Employee Assistance Program 

• COVID-19 protective initiatives

• Eyesight screening 

• First Aid training 

• Flu vaccinations

• Ergonomic assessments. 

INJURY MANAGEMENT
The Commission complies with the Injury 
Management requirements of the Workers’ 
Compensation and Injury Management  
Act 1981. The Commission has adopted injury 
management practices which comply with 
the Workers’ Compensation Code of Practice 
(Injury Management) 2005. Injury management 
procedures are regularly reviewed to ensure 
the Commission adheres to best practice 
principles. 
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DISABILITY ACCESS AND 
INCLUSION PLAN OUTCOMES
During the reporting year, the Commission 
continued to demonstrate an ongoing 
commitment to people with disability and 
finalised its 2021–25 Disability Access and 
Inclusion Plan (DAIP). 

Implementation of the DAIP, as well as 
consultation undertaken with our Disability 
Review Panel during the course of the  
2021 State General Election is now informing 
the substantial review being undertaken of our 
election processes and planning ahead of the 
2025 State General Election. 

OUTCOME 1: 
People with disability have the same 
opportunities as other people to access our 
services and events. 

• Alternative enrolment processes are 
available to persons with a disability, 
including via the National Relay Service 
(NRS) for persons who are deaf or have a 
hearing or speech impediment.

• Across this reporting year, planning has 
begun on various options for Technology 
Assisted Voting in 2025 including 
Telephone Assisted Voting and Vote 
Assist. Planning a variety of options will 
ensure that more people with disability 
will be able to access voting services and 
importantly have the same opportunities 
as other people to vote. A request for 
information was issued to the market in 
December 2021 to ascertain potential 
products and vendors for these services. 
Assessment of this information is 
continuing with the aim of developing a 
preliminary business case in time for the 
2023–24 Budget process. 

OUTCOME 2: 
People with disability have the same 
opportunities as other people to access the 
buildings and other facilities of a public 
authority.

• The Commission’s central office is located 
in a building which complies with 
legislative requirements, with lift and 
ramp access available and a concierge 
to assist visitors. Our Electoral Education 
Centre also has access for the mobility 
impaired and a disabled parking bay. 
There are accessible toilets onsite. 

• As part of the review of the 2021 State 
General Election, the Commission has 
identified enhanced procedures for the 
selection of polling places, which ensures 
that they will be assessed and set up in 
the most accessible way possible. 

OUTCOME 3: 
People with disability receive information from 
a public authority in a format that will enable 
them to access the information as readily as 
other people are able to access it.

• The Commission website continues to 
meet accessibility guidelines and content 
specifically relevant to people with a 
disability. There are a range of easy to 
access materials available related to voter 
assistance including technology assisted 
voting guides and information for carers.  
We have a range of informative videos 
available about accessible voting including 
telephone voting and voting for the 
hearing impaired. There is also a text 
resize button that increases the text size to 
125%, 150% and 175% of the original size. 

• Through our extensive election review 
and planning for the 2025 State General 
Election, we will continue to explore 
the opportunities of new technologies 
to improve our services for people 
with disability and ensure that our 
communications remain inclusive and 
accessible. 
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OUTCOME 4: 
People with disability receive the same level 
and quality of service from the staff of a public 
authority as other people receive from the staff 
of that public authority.

• Through our planning for the 2025 State 
General Election, the Commission is 
committed to ensuring that all electors 
receive the same level and quality of 
service from staff. This planning has 
included polling place support staff 
wearing high visibility vests and inclusion 
of accessibility information in training for 
Returning Officers (ROs) and polling place 
employees.  

• The Commission provides easy access 
on our intranet to a Writing Accessible 
Documents guide. This guide encourages 
the use of easy-to-read documents that 
are accessible to wider audiences and 
provides practical tips for improving the 
accessibility and readability of our written 
materials. 

• The Commission is a participant in the 
National Disability Services (NDS) pilot 
program “Building the Talent Pool”. This 
project aims to assess the experiences 
of people with disability working in the 
public service and build capacity within 
the Commission through the provision of 
resources and awareness workshops.  

OUTCOME 5: 
People with disability have the same 
opportunities as other people to make 
complaints to a public authority.

• In the second half of 2021, the 
Commission conducted Local Government 
Elections. Complaints were received in a 
variety of formats including by email and 
phone.   

• In accordance with the Commission’s 
Strategic Plan and Code of Conduct, 
complaints and general feedback are 
responded to in a timely, respectful, and 

 collaborative way. Information on how to 
make a complaint to the Commission is 
available on our website. 

OUTCOME 6: 
People with disability have the same 
opportunities as other people to participate in 
any public consultation by a public authority.

• In 2019, the Commission established a 
Disability Reference Panel (DRP). The 
panel provided input and feedback on a 
range of services and planned initiatives 
related to our 2021 election events. This 
Panel included key staff from across 
the Commission and representative 
groups from the disability community 
including Blind Citizens WA, Council of 
the Ageing, Developmental Disability 
WA, National Disability Services, People 
with Disabilities WA, VisABILITY and the 
Youth Disability Advocacy Network. The 
DRP reviewed the Commission’s Disability 
Access and Inclusion Plan, submitted 
during the reporting year. The DAIP 
focused on improving access to electoral 
services for people with disability. 

OUTCOME 7: 
People with disability have the same 
opportunities as other people to obtain and 
maintain employment with a public authority.
• The Commission has worked with 

National Disability Services (NDS) in 
considering ways to increase employment 
for people with disability through 
participation in the monthly interagency 
meetings. 

• While we have a small permanent 
workforce, we employ a much larger 
temporary workforce around major 
election events. We employed six people 
with disability for the 2021 Local 
Government Election. Engagement of our 
temporary workforce was reviewed during 
the reporting period and this review 
will help inform our planning for future 
election events. 
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MULTICULTURAL PLAN
The Commission is committed to recognising 
the cultural and linguistic diversity of the 
Western Australian community, and ensuring 
its services, facilities and information are 
available and user friendly. Our Multicultural 
Plan incorporates various strategies across 
three policy priority areas: 

HARMONIOUS AND INCLUSIVE 
COMMUNITIES
The Electoral Education Centre runs programs 
for people from CaLD backgrounds through 
South Metropolitan TAFE, as part of the 
federally funded Adult Migrant English 
program. These programs are highly interactive 
and enable people with various proficiencies 
of the English language to learn about our 
electoral system. Presentations to 18 classes 
were conducted over the reporting period and 
over 400 people participated with many voting 
in a mock election for the first time. 

The Education Centre continues to deliver 
classes in WA schools with a high proportion 
of CaLD students. They also deliver classes 
to schools on Christmas Island, CaLD groups 
in the Edmund Rice Centre and to students 
undertaking intensive English language 
courses. As well as raising the profile of the 
Commission amongst people from CaLD 
backgrounds, these classes help to encourage 
discussion within communities, which leads to 
a better understanding of electoral events and 
processes.  

CULTURALLY RESPONSIVE POLICIES, 
PROGRAMS AND SERVICES
The Commission is reviewing election 
information materials provided to electors at 
polling places to extend the existing range 
of multi-lingual materials. This includes 
multilingual audio information  which will 
be accessible at polling places, as well as 
available for download from personal mobiles.

ECONOMIC, SOCIAL, CULTURAL, CIVIC 
AND POLITICAL PARTICIPATION
During the reporting year, the Commission  
has undertaken an extensive review of the  
2021 State General Election which has 
informed our planning for the 2025 State 
General Election. This planning involves 
researching possible ways to support people 
from all backgrounds with the aim of ensuring 
greater CaLD representation at all levels. The 
Commission will also build on our previous 
work in the Electoral Ambassador Program 
with the aim of attracting a wider range 
of Electoral Ambassadors and increasing 
awareness of the Commission’s activities in 
CaLD communities.  

Christmas Island District High School presentation.

Electoral education for migrant women at Mercycare, Mirrabooka.
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GOVERNANCE & FINANCIAL 
DISCLOSURES
MINISTERIAL DIRECTIVES
No Ministerial directives were received during 
the financial year.

FREEDOM OF INFORMATION 
The Commission received two Freedom  
of Information (FOI) applications during  
2021–2022.

Number of FOI applications received 2021-2022 2

Full access to documents granted 0

Edited access to documents granted 1

Access refused 1

Internal reviews undertaken 1

External reviews undertaken 1

CONTRACTS WITH SENIOR OFFICERS
At the date of reporting, other than normal 
contracts of employment of service, no senior 
officers, or firms of which senior officers are 
members, or entities in which senior officers 
have substantial interest, had any interests 
in existing or proposed contracts with the 
Commission and senior officers.

PRICING POLICIES OF SERVICES 
PROVIDED
The Commission charges for its conduct of 
local government and private elections on a 
full cost recovery basis. Fees and charges are 
determined in accordance with ‘Costing and 
Pricing Government Services’ published by the 
Department of Treasury.

BOARD & COMMITTEE REMUNERATION
There were no costs during the reporting year 
for remuneration of members of government 
boards and committees.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

CERTIFICATION OF KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Audited key performance indicators for the year ended 30 June 2022 

Audited key performance indicators 

Certification of key performance indicator 

I hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records , are relevant and 
appropriate for assisting users to assess the Commission's performance, and fairly represent the 
performance of the Commission for the financial year ended 30 June 2022. 

Robert Kennedy 

Electoral Commisioner 

08 November 2022 
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Government Goal
Sustainable Finances: Responsible financial management and better service delivery. 

Desired Outcome
Western Australian electors participate in independent and impartial elections or referenda 
conducted by the Commission as part of democratic processes.

Service   

Provision of independent, impartial and efficient electoral services to electors of Parliament and  
other electoral clients. 

Detailed information in support of key performance indicators  

Provision of independent, impartial and efficient electoral services to electors of Parliament and  
other electoral clients.  

Key Effectiveness Indicators
2018–19 

Actual
2019–20 

Actual
2020–21 

Actual
2021–22 

Actual
2021-22 
Target

Variation

The number of relevant breaches of 
"Declaration by Officer" (Form 1) upheld 
by a Court of Disputed Returns (a)

Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

Percentage eligible electors on the 
State Electoral Roll (b) 96.15% 96.06% 96.54% 97.40% 96.40% 1.00%

Percentage of enrolled 
electors voting in 
State Elections (or 
by-elections) or 
referenda (c)

State General 
Election

n/a n/a 85.46% n/a

By-election n/a n/a n/a n/a

Referenda n/a n/a n/a n/a

Average percentage of enrolled electors 
voting in Local Government Ordinary 
(or/and Extraordinary) Elections 
conducted by the Commission (d)

31.05% 28.90% 34.16% 30.02% 29.70% 0.32%

Note:  (a)  The number of relevant breaches of “Declaration by Officer’ upheld by a court of Disputed Returns is an indicator which reflects the 
Commission’s objective of conducting independent elections. 

 (b)  The percentage of eligible electors on the state electoral roll is an indicator that provides a link to the Commission’s objective 
of enabling electors to participate in the electoral process. There were 1.78 million enrolled electors out of an estimated eligible 
population of 1.83 million as at 30 June 2022. 

 (c)  This indicator reflects actual percentage participation in State General Election 2021. There were 1.47 million electors who voted out 
of an actual enrolled population of 1.72 million. 

 (d)  This indicator reflects the Commission’s effectiveness in enabling electors to participate in the local government electoral process. 
Local government extraordinary elections are erratic in nature and the participation rate can vary markedly due to the size of the 
election and the importance of local issues. In financial year 2021-22 the Biennial Local Government elections were held in October 
2021. The participation for the Biennial Local Government Election was 0.5 million voters out of 1.65 million enrolled voters.
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Key Efficiency Indicators 2018–19 
Actual

2019–20  
Actual

2020-21 
Actual

2021-22 
Actual

2021-22 
Target Variation

Average Cost per Elector of Providing 
Electoral Services (Enrolment and 
Election Management) (a)

$4.34 $3.86 $4.22 $4.32 $4.10 ($0.22)

Average Cost per 
Elector of Conducting 
State General Elections 
(or By-elections) or 
Referenda Events (b)

State Election n/a n/a $14.43 n/a n/a

By-election n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Referenda n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Average Cost per Elector of Conducting 
Local Government Ordinary (or/and 
Extraordinary) Elections Conducted by 
the Commission (c)

$2.91 $3.70 $4.46 $4.27 $4.52 $0.25

Note:  (a)  The indicator reflects the fixed average cost per elector of maintaining readiness for any State election. 

 (b)  The indicator reflects actual average cost per elector incurred conducting Elections. 

 (c)  The indicator reflects actual average average cost per elector incurred while conducting Local Government elections. The actual is a 
decrease in comparison to the Estimate and to the Prior Year as there were 16 extra-ordinary elections held in 2020-21.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

      Auditor General

Page 1 of 5

7th Floor Albert Facey House 469 Wellington Street Perth    MAIL TO: Perth BC PO Box 8489 Perth WA 6849    TEL: 08 6557 7500   

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
2022

Western Australian Electoral Commission

To the Parliament of Western Australia

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
I have audited the financial statements of the Western Australian Electoral Commission 
(Commission) which comprise: 

 the Statement of Financial Position at 30 June 2022, and the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash Flows for the year then 
ended

 Administered schedules comprising the Administered assets and liabilities at 30 June 2022 
and the Administered income and expenses by service for the year then ended 

 Notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information.

In my opinion, the financial statements are: 

 based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all material respects, the operating results 
and cash flows of the Western Australian Electoral Commission for the year ended 30 June 
2022 and the financial position at the end of that period 

 in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (applicable to Tier 2 Entities), the 
Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions.

Basis for opinion
I conducted my audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements section of my report. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for my opinion.

Responsibilities of the Electoral Commissioner for the financial statements
The Electoral Commissioner is responsible for: 

 keeping proper accounts

 preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards (applicable to Tier 2 Entities), the Financial Management Act 2006 
and the Treasurer’s Instructions

 such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Jll 
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Page 2 of 5

In preparing the financial statements, the Electoral Commissioner is responsible for: 

 assessing the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern

 disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern

 using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Western Australian Government 
has made policy or funding decisions affecting the continued existence of the Commission.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial statements. The objectives of my audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of the financial statements. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on 
the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website. This description forms part of my auditor’s 
report and can be found at https://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf.  

Report on the audit of controls 
Opinion
I have undertaken a reasonable assurance engagement on the design and implementation of 
controls exercised by the Western Australian Electoral Commission. The controls exercised by 
the Electoral Commissioner are those policies and procedures established to ensure that the 
receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the 
incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative provisions (the overall control 
objectives).

In my opinion, in all material respects, the controls exercised by the Western Australian Electoral 
Commission are sufficiently adequate to provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, 
expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property and the incurring 
of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative provisions during the year ended 30 June 
2022.

The Electoral Commissioner’s responsibilities
The Electoral Commissioner is responsible for designing, implementing and maintaining controls 
to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of 
property and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial Management Act 
2006, the Treasurer’s Instructions and other relevant written law.
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Page 3 of 5

Auditor General’s responsibilities 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility as an assurance practitioner is to 
express an opinion on the suitability of the design of the controls to achieve the overall control 
objectives and the implementation of the controls as designed. I conducted my engagement in 
accordance with Standard on Assurance Engagements ASAE 3150 Assurance Engagements on 
Controls issued by the Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. That standard 
requires that I comply with relevant ethical requirements and plan and perform my procedures to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether, in all material respects, the controls are suitably 
designed to achieve the overall control objectives and were implemented as designed.

An assurance engagement involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the 
suitability of the controls design to achieve the overall control objectives and the implementation 
of those controls. The procedures selected depend on my judgement, including an assessment 
of the risks that controls are not suitably designed or implemented as designed. My procedures 
included testing the implementation of those controls that I consider necessary to achieve the 
overall control objectives. 

I believe that the evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion.

Limitations of controls
Because of the inherent limitations of any internal control structure, it is possible that, even if the 
controls are suitably designed and implemented as designed, once in operation, the overall 
control objectives may not be achieved so that fraud, error or non-compliance with laws and 
regulations may occur and not be detected. Any projection of the outcome of the evaluation of 
the suitability of the design of controls to future periods is subject to the risk that the controls may 
become unsuitable because of changes in conditions.

Report on the audit of the key performance indicators
Opinion
I have undertaken a reasonable assurance engagement on the key performance indicators of the 
Western Australian Electoral Commission for the year ended 30 June 2022. The key 
performance indicators are the Under Treasurer-approved key effectiveness indicators and key 
efficiency indicators that provide performance information about achieving outcomes and 
delivering services.

In my opinion, in all material respects, the key performance indicators of the Western Australian 
Electoral Commission are relevant and appropriate to assist users to assess the Commission’s 
performance and fairly represent indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2022. 

The Electoral Commissioner’s responsibilities for the key performance indicators
The Electoral Commissioner is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key 
performance indicators in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the 
Treasurer’s Instructions and for such internal control as the Electoral Commissioner determines 
necessary to enable the preparation of key performance indicators that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the key performance indicators, the Commission is responsible for identifying key 
performance indicators that are relevant and appropriate, having regard to their purpose in 
accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction 904 Key Performance Indicators.
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Auditor General’s responsibilities 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility as an assurance practitioner is to 
express an opinion on the key performance indicators. The objectives of my engagement are to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the key performance indicators are relevant and 
appropriate to assist users to assess the entity’s performance and whether the key performance 
indicators are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes my opinion. I conducted my engagement in accordance with 
Standard on Assurance Engagements ASAE 3000 Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or 
Reviews of Historical Financial Information issued by the Australian Auditing and Assurance 
Standards Board. That standard requires that I comply with relevant ethical requirements relating 
to assurance engagements.

An assurance engagement involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the key performance indicators. It also involves evaluating the 
relevance and appropriateness of the key performance indicators against the criteria and 
guidance in Treasurer’s Instruction 904 for measuring the extent of outcome achievement and 
the efficiency of service delivery. The procedures selected depend on my judgement, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the key performance indicators. In 
making these risk assessments I obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the 
engagement in order to design procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances.

I believe that the evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion.

My independence and quality control relating to the reports on financial 
statements, controls and key performance indicators
I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor General Act 2006 and the 
relevant ethical requirements relating to assurance engagements. In accordance with ASQC 1 
Quality Control for Firms that Perform Audits and Reviews of Financial Reports and Other 
Financial Information, and Other Assurance Engagements, the Office of the Auditor General 
maintains a comprehensive system of quality control including documented policies and 
procedures regarding compliance with ethical requirements, professional standards and 
applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

Other information
The Commission is responsible for the other information. The other information is the information 
in the entity’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2022, but not the financial statements, 
key performance indicators and my auditor’s report. 

My opinions on the financial statements, controls and key performance indicators do not cover 
the other information and, accordingly, I do not express any form of assurance conclusion 
thereon. 

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, controls and key performance indicators, 
my responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements and key performance 
indicators, or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, I am required to report that fact. I did not receive the other information prior to 
the date of this auditor’s report. When I do receive it, I will read it and if I conclude that there is a 
material misstatement in this information, I am required to communicate the matter to those 
charged with governance and request them to correct the misstated information. If the misstated 
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information is not corrected, I may need to retract this auditor’s report and re-issue an amended 
report.

Matters relating to the electronic publication of the audited financial statements 
and key performance indicators
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements and key performance indicators of the 
Western Australian Electoral Commission for the year ended 30 June 2022 included in the 
annual report on the Commission’s website. The Commission’s management is responsible for 
the integrity of the Commission’s website. This audit does not provide assurance on the integrity 
of the Commission’s website. The auditor’s report refers only to the financial statements, controls 
and key performance indicators described above. It does not provide an opinion on any other 
information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the annual report. If users of the financial 
statements and key performance indicators are concerned with the inherent risks arising from 
publication on a website, they are advised to contact the entity to confirm the information 
contained in the website version.

Grant Robinson 
Assistant Auditor General Financial Audit
Delegate of the Auditor General for Western Australia
Perth, Western Australia 
9 November 2022
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Disclosures and legal compliance 

Certification of financial statements 

For the reporting period ended 30 June 2022 

The accompanying financial statements of the Western Australian Electoral Commission have been prepared 
in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records 
to present fairly the financial transactions for the reporting period ending 30 June 2022 and the financial 
position as at 30 June 2022. 

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included 
within the financial statements misleading or inaccurate. 

r:i~ Gatt~~;0 
Director Business Services 

08 November 2022 

Robert Kennedy 

Electoral Commissioner 

08 November 2022 
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Statement of comprehensive income 

For the year ended 30 June 2022 

Cost of services 
Expenses 

Employee benefits expenses 

Supplies and services 

Depreciation and amortisation expenses 

Finance costs 
Accommodation expenses 
Grants and subsidies 
other expenses 
Total cost of services 
Income 
Other revenue 
Total income 
Total income other than income from State Government 
Net cost of services 

Income from State Government 
Service appropriation 
Resources received 
Total income from State Government 
Surplus/(deficit) for the period 

Total comprehensive income for the period 

Notes 

2.1 (a) 

2.3 

4.1.1, 4.2.1, 4.3 
6.2 
2.3 
2.2 
2.3 

3.2 

3.1 
3.1 

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

2022 2021 
($000} ($000} 

7,040 12,599 
6,364 18,216 

630 499 
2 1 

1,216 2,300 
17 5,050 

710 885 
15,979 39,550 

7,363 435 
7,363 435 
7,363 435 
8,616 39,115 

8,203 37,359 
373 90 

8,576 37,449 
(40) (1 ,666) 

(40) (1 ,666) 
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Statement of financial position 

As at 30 June 2022 

Assets 
Current Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Receivables 
Amounts receivable for services 

Prepayments 
Total Current Assets 

Non-Current Assets 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 

Amounts receivable for services 

Plant and equipment 

Intangible assets 

Right-of-use assets 
Prepayments 
Total Non-Current Assets 
Total Assets 

Liabilities 
Current Liabilities 
Payables 
Lease Liabilities 

Employee related provisions 

Total Current Liabilities 

Non-Current Liabilities 

Lease Liabilities 
Employee related provisions 

Total Non-Current Liabilities 

Total Liabilities 

Net Assets 

Equity 
Contributed equity 

Accumulated surplus/( deficit) 

Total Equity 

Notes 

6.3 
5.1 
5.2 
5.3 

6.3 
5.2 
4.1 
4.2 
4.3 
5.3 

5.4 
6.1 

2.1 (b) 

6.1 
2.1 (b) 

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

2022 2021 
($000) ($000) 

1,657 2,294 

143 1,280 

267 267 

163 237 

2,230 4,078 

94 76 

518 510 

565 873 

1,864 1,905 
44 32 

0 12 

3,085 3,408 
5,316 7,486 

372 2,312 
30 16 

1,175 1,406 
1,577 3,734 

14 16 
211 182 
225 198 

1,802 3,932 

3,514 3,554 

382 382 

3,132 3,172 
3,514 3,554 
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Statement of changes in equity 

For the year ended 30 June 2022 

Balance at 1 July 2021 
Restated Balance at 1 July 2020 

Surplus/(deficit) 
Total comprehensive income for the 

eriod 
Transactions with owners in their capacity 

as owners: 

Distribution to owners 

Total 
Balance at 30 June 2021 
Balance at 1 July 2021 
Surplus/( deficit) 
Other comprehensive income 

Total comprehensive income for the 

~eriod 
Transactions with owners in their capacity 

as owners: 

Distributions to owners 
Total 
Balance at 30 June 2022 

Contributed Accumulated 

equity surplus/(deficit) 

($000) ($000) 
724 4,838 

724 4,838 
(1,666) 

(1,666) 

(342) 
(342) 

382 3,172 

382 3,172 
(40) 

(40) 

382 3,132 

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

Total equity 
($000) 
5,562 
5,562 

(1 ,666) 

(1,666) 

(342) 
(342) 
3,554 
3,554 

(40) 

(40) 

3,514 
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Statement of cash flows 

For the year ended 30 June 2022 

Cash flows from State Government 

Service appropriation 
Capital appropriations 
Holding account drawdown 
Net cash provided by State Government 

Utilised as follows: 

Cash flows from operating activities 

Payments 
Employee benefits 
Supplies and services 
Finance costs 
Accommodation 
Grants and subsidies 
GST payments on purchases 

Other payments 
Receipts 
Receipts from services 
GST receipts on sales 
GST receipts from taxation authority 

Net cash provided b~:J{used in) operating activities 

Cash flows from investing activities 

Payments 
Purchase of non-current assets 

Net cash provided b}:'./(used in) investing activities 

Cash flows from financing activities 

Payments 
Principal element of lease (2019-finance lease) 

Accommodation funding repayment by Agency 

Repayment of Treasurer's Advances 

Receipts 
Proceeds from Treasurer's Advances 

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents at the be~inning of the period 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 

Notes 

6.3 

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

2022 2021 
($000) ($000) 

8,145 37,038 
14 

50 300 
8,195 37,352 

(7,116) (12,262) 
(7,588) (16,412) 

(2) (1) 
(1 ,335) (2,176) 

(17) (5,050) 
(981) (2,036) 
(787) (846) 

7,414 432 
733 43 

1,143 1,058 
(8,536) (37,250) 

(266) (1,312) 

(266) (1,312) 

(10) (18) 
(342) 

(5,000) 

5,000 
(10) (360) 

(617) (1,570) 
2,370 3,940 

1,752 2,370 
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Administered Schedules 

Administered income and expenses 

For the year ended 30 June 2022 

Income 

For transfer: 

Regulatory fees and other charges 

Total administered income 

Expenses 
Transfer payments(a) 

Total administered expenses 

Notes 

9.2 

9.2 

2022 
($000) 

1,595 

1,595 

1,595 

1,595 

2021 

($000) 

70 

70 

C•l Transfer payments represent the transfer of non-retainable regulatory fees to the Consolidated Account. These fees relate to the 

State General Election 2021 non-voters fines. 
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Summary of consolidated account appropriations 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 

2022 2022 
Budget Supplementary 

Estimate Funding 
($000) {$000} 

Delivery of Services 
Item 8 Net amount appropriated to deliver 
services 6)47 1,204 

Amount Authorised by Other Statutes 
- Electoral Act 1907 
- Industrial Relation Act 1979 116 
- Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 488 

Total appropriations provided to 
deliver services 7,351 1,204 

Capital 
Item 96 Capital Approeriation 22 
Grand Total 7,373 1,204 

2022 
Revised 2022 2022 
Budget Actual Variance 
($000) ($000) ($000) 

7,951 7,599 (352) 

116 116 
488 488 

8,555 8,203 (352) 

22 0 (22) 
8,577 8,203 (374) 
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Notes to the financial statements 

1. Basis of preparation 

The Western Australian Electoral Commission is a WA Government entity and is controlled by the State of 

Western Australia, which is the ultimate parent. The Western Australian Electoral Commission is a not-for

profit entity (as profit is not its principal objective) . 

A description of the nature of its operations and its principal activities have been included in the 'Overview' 

which does not form part of these financial statements. 

These annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the Accountable Authority of the Western 

Australian Electoral Commission on 8 November 2022. 

Statement of compliance 

These general purpose financial statements are prepared in accordance with: 

1) The Financial Management Act 2006 (FMA) 

2) The Treasurer's Instructions (Tls) 

3) Australian Accounting Standards (AASs) - Reduced Disclosure Requirements 

4) Where appropriate, those AAS paragraphs applicable for not-for-profit entities have been applied. 

The FMA and Tl's take precedence over AAS. Several AASs are modified by Tls to vary application, 

disclosure format and wording. Where modification is required and has had a material or significant 

financial effect upon the reported results, details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are 

disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 

Basis of preparation 

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars applying the accrual basis of accounting and 

using the historical cost convention . Certain balances will apply a different measurement basis (such as the 

fair value basis). Where this is the case the different measurement basis is disclosed in the associated note. 

All values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($'000). 

Judgements and estimates 

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about financial information being 

presented. The significant judgements and estimates made in the preparation of these financial statements 

are disclosed in the notes where amounts affected by those judgements and/or estimates are disclosed. 

Estimates and associated assumptions are based on professional judgements derived from historical 

experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

Contributed equity 

AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities requires 

transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative 

arrangements, to be designated as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to, transfer) before such 

transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital appropriations have been designated as 

contributions by owners by TI 955 Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities 

and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity. 
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2. Use of our funding 

Expenses incurred in the delivery of services 

This section provides additional information about how the Commission's funding is applied and the 

accounting policies that are relevant for an understanding of the items recognised in the financial 

statements. The primary expenses incurred by the Commission in achieving its objectives and the relevant 

notes are: 

Employee benefit expenses 

Employee related provisions 

Grants and subsidies 
Other expenditure 

2.1 (a) Employee benefits expenses 

Employee Benefits 

Superannuation - contribution plans 

Total employee benefits expenses 

Net employee benefits 

2022 

($000) 
6,385 

655 
7,040 

7,040 

Notes 
2.1 (a) 
2.1 (b) 

2.2 
2.3 

2021 

($000) 
11 ,583 

1,016 
12,599 

12,599 

Employee Benefits include wages, salaries and social contributions, accrued and paid leave entitlements 

and paid sick leave; and non-monetary benefits (such as medical care, housing, cars and free or subsidised 

goods or services) for employees. 

Superannuation is the amount recognised in profit or loss of the Statement of Comprehensive Income 

comprises employer contributions paid to Gold State Super, West State Super, other GESS schemes, or 

other superannuation funds. 

Employee Contributions are contributions made to the Commission by employees towards employee 

benefits that have been provided by the Commission. This includes both AASB-16 and non-AASB 16 

employee contributions. 

2.1(b) Employee related provisions 
2022 2021 

($000) ($oool 
Current 
Employee benefits provisions 

Annual leave 576 640 

Lon9 service leave 585 747 
1,161 1,387 

Other provisions 

Emplo~ment on-costs 14 19 

Total current employee related provisions 1,175 1,406 

Non-current 
Employee benefits provisions 

Long service leave 208 180 

Other provisions 
Employment on-costs 3 2 

Total non-current employee related provisions 211 182 

Total employee related provisions 1,386 1,588 
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Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of annual leave and long service leave for 

services rendered up to the reporting dale and recorded as an expense during the period the services are 

delivered. 

Annual leave liabilities are classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at 

least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. 

The provision for annual leave is calculated at the present value of expected payments to be made in 

relation to services provided by employees up to the reporting date. 

Long service leave liabilities are unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current 

liabilities as the Commission does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at 

least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. 

Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because 

the Commission has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has 

completed the requisite years of service. 

The provision for long service leave is calculated at present value as the Commission does not expect to 

wholly settle the amounts within 12 months. The present value is measured taking into account the present 

va lue of expected future payments to be made in relation to services provided by employees up to the 

reporting date. These payments are estimated using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of 

settlement, and discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national government 

bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

Employment on-costs involve settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities giving rise to the 

payment of employment on-costs including workers' compensation insurance. The provision is the present 

value of expected future payments. 

Employment on-costs, including workers' compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are 

recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred. 

Employment on-costs are included as part of 'Other expenses, Note 2.3 (apart from the unwinding of the 

discount (finance cost) and are not included as part of the Commission's 'employee benefits expense'. The 

related liability is included in 'Employment on-costs provision' . 

Employment on-cost provision 
Carrying amount at start of period 
Additional/(reversals of) provisions recognised 
Carrying amount at end of period 

2022 
($000) 

21 
(4) 
17 

2021 
($000) 

18 
3 

21 
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty - long service leave 

Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other 

factors that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and 

liabilities within the next financial year. 

Several estimates and assumptions are used in calculating the Commission's long service leave provision. 

These include: 

• Expected future salary rates 

• Discount rates 

• Employee retention rates; and 

• Expected future payments 

Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the long service leave 

provision. Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of long service leave liabilties is 

recognised as employee benefits expense. 

2.2 Grants and subsidies 

Recurrent 

Grants (section 175LC of the Electoral Act 1907) <a> 

Total grants and subsidies 

2022 

($000) 

17 
17 

2021 

($000) 

5,050 
5,050 

(a) As per section 175LC of the Electoral Act 1907 being grants paid to Political Parties and candidates who achieve more than 4% of 

the eligible preference votes recorded at State General Election 2021 . 

Transactions in which the Commission provides goods, services, assets (or extinguishes a liability) or labour 

to another party without receiving approximately equal value in return are categorised as 'Grant expenses'. 

Grants can either be operating or capital in nature. 

Grants can be paid as general purpose grants which refer to grants that are not subject to conditions 

regarding their use. Alternatively, they may be paid as specific purpose grants which are paid for a particular 

purpose and/or have conditions attached regarding their use. 

Grants and other transfers to third parties (other than contribution to owners) are recognised as an expense 

in the reporting period in which they are paid or payable. They include transactions such as: legislated 

payments made to political parties and candidates who achieve more than 4% of the eligible preference 

votes recorded at the State General Elections 2021 . 

2.3 Other expenditure 

Supplies and services 
Communications 
Consultants and contractors 

Consumables 
Travel 
Other 
Total supplies and services expenses 

2022 

($000) 

3,285 
2,530 

389 
90 
70 

6,364 

2021 

($000) 

5,348 
11 ,249 

1,125 
226 
268 

18,216 
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Accommodation 
Rental 1,181 2,247 

Reeairs and maintenance 35 53 

Total accommodation expenses 1,216 2,300 

Other 
Audit fees<aJ 60 83 

Repairs and maintenance - computing 490 460 

Other expenses 160 338 

Emplolment on-cost 
4 

Total other expenses!b) 710 885 

Total other expenditure 8,290 21,401 

(a) Includes internal and external audit fees incurred for this year. This amount might differ to the amounts recognised in note 8.8 

'Remuneration of auditor'. 

(b) There is no expected cred it losses risk reported in this financial year due to no allowance for impairment in the receivables. 

Supplies and services expenses are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are 

incurred. The carrying amount of any materials held for distribution are expensed when the materials are 

distributed 

Accommodation expenses are recognised as expenses as incurred. This is a lease arrangement with 

another wholly-owned public sector entity. 

Rental expense includes: 

i) Short-term leases with a lease term of 12 months or less: 

ii) Low-value leases with an underlying value of $5,000 or less; and 

iii) Variable lease payments, recognised in the period in which the event or condition that triggers those 

payments occurs. 

Repairs and maintenance - computing costs are recognised as expenses as incurred, except where they 

relate to the replacement of a significant component of an asset. In that case, the costs are capitalised and 

depreciated. 

Other expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations. 

Employee on-cost includes workers' compensation insurance and other employment on-costs. The on costs 

liability associated with the recognition of annual and long service leave liabilities is included at Note 2.1 (b) 

Employee related provision. Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave are 

employee benefits and are not included in employment on-costs. 
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN ELECTORAL COMMISSION NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. Our funding sources

How we obtain our funding

Notes
Income from State Government 3.1
Other revenue 3.2

Income from State Government
2022 2021

($000) ($000)
Appropriation received during the period:
- Service appropriation 8,203                37,359              
Total service appropriation received 8,203                37,359              
Resources received from other public sector entities during the period:

Department of Finance - Building Management Works 23                     24                     
       State Solicitor Office 338                   54                     

Landgate 12                     12                     
Total resources received 373                   90                     
Total income from State Government 8,576                37,449              

Other revenue
2022 2021

($000) ($000)
Local Government Elections(a) 7,115                -                    
Other Elections 245                   419                   
Sale of Roll Products/General Revenue 2                       19                     
Other revenue 2                       -                    

7,364                438                   
Net proceeds from disposal of non-current assets
Plant and equipment -                    -                    
Carrying amount of non-current assets disposed
Plant and equipment (1)                      (3)                      
Net gains/(losses) on disposal (1)                      (3)                      
Total other revenue 7,363                435                   

- Services received free of charge

This section provides additional information about how the Commission obtains its funding and the relevant
accounting policy notes that govern the recognition and measurement of this funding. The primary income
received by the Commission and the relevant notes are:

Service Appropriations are recognised as income at fair value of consideration received in the period in
which the Commission gains control of the appropriated funds. The Commission gains control of
appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited in the bank account or credited to the holding
account held at Treasury.

Gains and losses on the disposal of non-current assets are presented by deducting from the proceeds
on disposal the carrying amount of the asset and related selling expenses. Gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive income (from the proceeds of sale).

(a) There were 98 Ordinary Local Government Elections held in October 2021.

3.1

3.2
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4. Key assets 

This section includes information regarding the key assets the Commission utilises to gain economic 

benefits or provide service potential. The section sets out both the key accounting policies and financial 

information about the performance of these assets: 

Plant and equipment 

Intangibles 

Right-of-use assets 

4.1 Plant and equipment 

Year ended 30 June 2021 

1 July 2021 

Gross carrying amount 

Accumulated depreciation 

Carrying amount at start of period 

Additions 

Other disposals 

Depreciation 

Carrying amount at 30 June 2022 

Gross carrying amount 

Accumulated depreciation 

Initial recognition 

Equipment 

($000) 

377 

(257) 

120 

48 

(39) 

129 

425 

(296) 

Computer 
Hardware 

($000) 

1,299 

(546) 

753 

(317) 

436 

1,299 

(863) 

Notes 

4.1 

4.2 

4.3 

Total 

($000) 

1,676 

(803) 

873 

48 

(356) 

565 

1,724 

{1,159) 

Items of plant and equipment, costing $5,000 or more are measured initially at cost. Where an asset is 

acquired for no cost or significantly less than fair value, the cost is valued at its fair value at the date of 

acquisition. Items of plant and equipment costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the 

Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a group of similar items which are 

significant in total). 

Subsequent measurement 

Plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment losses. 
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4.1.1 Depreciation and impairment charge for the period 

Depreciation 
Equipment 
Computer hardware 
Total depreciation for the period 

Finite useful lives 

Notes 

4.1 
4.1 

2022 2021 

($000) ($000) 

39 39 

317 199 
356 238 

All plant and equipment having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful 

lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits. The exceptions to this rule 

include assets held for sale, land and investment properties. 

Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight line basis, at rates that allocate the asset's value, less any 

estimated residual value, over its estimated useful life. Typical estimated useful lives for the different asset 

classes for current and prior years are included in the table below: 

Asset Useful life 

Equipment 5 to 10 years 

Computer hardware 3 years 

The estimated useful lives. residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual 

reporting period and adjustment will be made where appropriate. 

Impairment 

Non-financial assets, including items of plant and equipment. are tested for impairment whenever there is an 

indication that the asset may be impaired. Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable 

amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount. the asset is 

considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised. 

Where an asset measured at cost is written down to its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is 

recognised through profit or loss. 

Where a previously revalued asset is written down to its recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a 

revaluation decrement through other comprehensive income. 

As the Commission is a not-for-profit entity, the recoverable amount of regularly revalued specialised assets 

is anticipated to be materially the same as fair value. 

If there is an indication that there has been a reversal in impairment, the carrying amount shall be increased 

to its recoverable amount. However this reversal should not increase the asset's carrying amount above 

what would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been 

recognised in prior years. 

As at 30 June 2022 there were no indications of impairment to equipment and computer hardware. 
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4.2 Intangible assets 

Year ended 30 June 2022 Computer 
Software Total 

($000) ($000) 

1 July 2021 
3,645 3,645 Gross carrying amount 

Accumulated amortisation (1,741) (1 ,741) 

Carrying amount at start of period 

Additions 

Amortisation expense 

Carrying amount at 30 June 2022 

Initial recognition 

1,904 

218 

(258) 

1,864 

1,904 

218 

(258) 

1,864 

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at significantly less than fair value, the 
cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition. 

An internally generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an 
internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the following are demonstrated: 

(a) The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale; 

(b) An intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it; 

(c) The ability to use or sell the intangible asset; 

(d) The intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefit; 

(e) The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to 
use or sell the intangible asset; and 

(f) The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its 
development. 

Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated intangible assets costing 
$50,000 or more that comply with the recognition criteria as per AASB 138 Intangible Assets are capitalised. 

Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 

Costs incurred in the research phase of a project are immediately expensed. 

Subsequent measurement 

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement of intangible assets, requiring the asset to be 

carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 
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4.2.1 Amortisation and impairment charge for the period 

Intangible assets 
Total amortisation for the period 

2022 
($000) 

258 
258 

2021 
($000) 

243 
243 

The Commission held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting 

period. At the end of the reporting period there were no intangible assets not yet available for use. 

Amortisation of finite life intangible assets is calculated on a straight line basis at rates that allocate the 

asset's value over its estimated useful life. All intangible assets controlled by the Commission have a finite 

useful life and zero residual value. Estimated useful lives are reviewed annually. 

The estimated useful lives for each class of intangible asset are: 

'Asset 
Software (a) 

I Useful Life I 
15 y 

(a) Software that is not integral to the operation of any related hardware. 

Impairment of intangible assets 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually or when an indication of 

impairment is identified. 

The policy in connection with testing for impairment is outlined in note 4.1.1. 

As at 30 June 2022 there were no indications of impairment to intangible assets. 

4.3 Right-of-use assets 

Notes 

Motor Vehicle 
Net carrying amount 

Additions 

Additions to the right-of-use asset 

Initial recognition 

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost including the following: 

• the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability; 

2022 

($000) 

44 
44 

32 

2021 

($000) 

32 
32 

22 

• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received; 

• any initial direct costs, and 

• restoration costs, including dismantling and removing the underlying asset. 

The Commission has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases 

(with a lease term of 12 months or less) and low value leases (with an underlying value of $5,000 or less) . 

Lease payments associated with these leases are expensed over a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

The Commission has leases for vehicles and has also entered into a Memorandum of Understanding 

Agreements (MOU) with the Department of Finance for the leasing of office accommodation. These are not 

recognised under AASB 16 because of substitution rights held by the Department of Finance and are 

accounted for as an expense as incurred. 
The Commission recognises leases as right-of-use assets and associated lease liabilities in the Statement 

of Financial Position. 

The corresponding lease liabilities in relation to these right-of-use assets have been disclosed in note 6.1 . 
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Subsequent Measurement 

Depreciation and impairment of right-of-use assets 

2022 2021
($000) ($000)

Motor Vehicles 16                     18                     
Total right-of-use asset depreciation 16                     18                     
Lease interest expense 2                       1                       
Expenses relating to variable lease payments not included in lease liabilitie -                    -                    
Short-term leases -                    -                    
Low-value leases -                    -                    
Gains or losses arising from sale and leaseback transactions -                    -                    

2022 2021
Cash outflow for leases ($000) ($000)
Total cash outflow for leases 17 19

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement of right-of-use assets, requiring the asset to be
carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses and adjusted for any
re-measurement of lease liability.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the
estimated useful lives of the underlying assets

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Commission at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects
the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset. 

Right-of-use assets are tested for impairment when an indication of impairment is identified. The policy in
connection with testing for impairment is outlined in note 4.1.1 

The following amounts relating to leases have been recognised in the statement of comprehensive income:



             

65WESTERN AUSTRALIAN ELECTORAL COMMISSION 2021–2022 ANNUAL REPORT

5. Other assets and liabilities 

This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from the Commission's controlled operations and 

includes other assets utilised for economic benefits and liabilities incurred during normal operations: 

Receivables 

Amounts receivable for services 

Other current assets 

Payables 

5.1 Receivables 

Current 
Trade receivables 
Accrued revenue 
GST receivable 
Total current 
Total receivables 

2022 

($000) 

143 
143 
143 

Notes 
5.1 
5.2 

5.3 
5.4 

2021 

($000) 

26 
30 

1,224 
1,280 
1,280 

Trade receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less any allowances for uncollectible amounts 

(i.e. impairment). The carrying amount of net trade receivables is equivalent to fair value as it is due for 

settlement within 30 days. 

5.2 Amount receivable for services (Holding Account) 

Current 
Non-Current 
Balance at end of period 

2022 
($000) 

267 
518 
785 

2021 
($000) 

267 
510 
777 

Amounts receivable for services represent the non-cash component of service appropriations. It is 

restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability. 

The amounts receivable for services are financial assets at amortised cost considered not impaired (i.e there 

is no expected credit loss of the Holding Accounts) . 



             

66 2021–2022 ANNUAL REPORT WESTERN AUSTRALIAN ELECTORAL COMMISSION

5.3 Other assets 

Current 

Prepayments 
Total current 

Non-current 
Prepayments 
Total non-current 
Balance at end of period 

2022 

($000) 

163 
163 

163 

2021 

($000) 

237 
237 

12 
12 

249 

Other non-financial assets include prepayments which represent payments in advance of receipt of goods or 

services or that part of expenditure made in one accounting period covering a term extending beyond that 

period. 

5.4 Payables 
2022 2021 

($000) ($000) 

Current 
Trade payables 164 45 

Other payables 104 16 

Accrued expenses 2,185 

Accrued salaries 104 66 

Total current 372 2,312 

Balance at end of period 372 2,312 

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Commission becomes obliged to make future 

payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as 

settlement is generally within 30 days. 

Accrued salaries represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the reporting period. Accrued 

salaries are settled within a fortnight after the reporting period . The Commission considers the carrying 

amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its fair value. 
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6. Financing 

This section sets out the material balances and disclosures associated with the financing and cashflows of 

the Commission . 

Lease Liabilities 

Finance cost 

Cash and cash equivalents 

6.1 Lease Liabilities 

Current 

Non-current 

Total lease liabilities 

Initial measurement 

2022 

($000) 

30 
14 
44 

Notes 

6.1 
6.2 

6.3 

2021 

($000) 

16 
16 
32 

The Commission measures a lease liability, at the commencement date of the lease, at the present value of 

the lease payments that are not paid at that date. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate 

implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readi ly determined, the Commission uses the incremental 

borrowing rate provided by Western Austral ia Treasury Corporation 

Lease payments included by the Commission as part of the present value calculation of lease liability 

include: 

• Fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) , less any lease incentives receivable ; 

• Variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate initially measured using the index or rate as at 

the commencement date; 

• Amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees; 

• The exercise price of purchase options (where these are reasonably certain to be exercised); 

• Payments for penalties for terminating a lease , where the lease term reflects the Commission exercising an 

option to terminate the lease. 

The interest on the lease liability is recognised in profit or loss over the lease term so as to produce a 

constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. Lease liabilities do 

not include any future changes in variable lease payments (that depend on an index or rate) until they take 

effect, in which case the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset. 

Periods covered by extension or termination options are only included in the lease term by the Commission 

if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated) . 

Variable lease payments, not included in the measurement of lease liabi lity, that are dependent on sales are 

recognised by the Commission in profit or loss in the period in which the condition that triggers those 

payments occurs 

This section should be read in conjunction with note 4 .3. 
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Subsequent measurement 

Lease liabilities are measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liabilities; 
reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made; and remeasuring the carrying amount at 

amortised cost, subject to adjustments to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications 

6.2 Finance Cost 
2022 2021 

($000) ($000) 

Finance costs 

Lease interest expense 2 1 

Total 2 1 

'Finance cost' includes the interest component of lease liability repayments, and the increase in financial 
liabilities and non-employee provisions due to the unwinding of discounts to reflect the passage of time. 

6.3 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 
Balance at end of period 

Restricted cash and cash equivalent 

Non-current 
Accrued salaries suspense account(a) 

2022 

($000) 
1,657 

94 
1,751 

2022 
($000) 

94 

2021 

($000) 
2,294 

76 
2,370 

2021 
($000) 

76 
{a) Funds held in the suspense account for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a repor1ing period that occurs every 11 th year. This 

account is classified as non-current for 1 O out of 11 years. 

For the purpose of the Statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalent assets (and restricted cash and 

cash equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand. 

The accrued salaries suspense account consists of amounts paid annually, from Commission appropriations 

for salaries expense, into a Treasury suspense account to meet the additional cash outflow for employee 
salary payments in reporting periods with 27 pay days instead of the normal 26. No interest is received on 
this account. 
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7. Financial instruments and contingencies 

This note sets out the key risk management policies and measurement techniques of the Commission. 

Financial instruments 

Contingent assets and liabiltiies 

7.1 Financial instruments 

Notes 
7.1 
7.2 

The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the 

end of the reporting period are: 

2022 
($000) 

Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 1,751 

Financial asset at amortised cost<a> 785 
Total financial assets 2,536 

Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost<bl 372 

Total financial liability 372 

(a) The amount of Financial assets at amortised cost excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable}. 

(b) The amount of Financial liabilities at amortised cost excludes GST payable to the ATO (statutory payable) 

7 .2 Contingent assets and contingent liabilities 

2021 
($000) 

2,370 

833 
3,203 

2,312 
2,312 

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Statement of Financial Position but are 

disclosed and, if quantifiable, are measured at the best estimate. 

Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or payable respectively. 

7.2.1 Contingent assets 
There were no contingent assets as at 30 June 2022. 

7.2.2 Contingent liabilities 
There were no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2022. 
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8. Other disclosures 

This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting standards or other 

pronouncements, for the understanding of this financial report. 

Events occurring after the end of the reporting period 

Correction of prior period errors/changes in accounting policy 

Key management personnel 

Related party transactions 

Related bodies 

Affiliated bodies 

Special purpose accounts 

Remuneration of auditors 

Supplementary financial information 

Explanatory statement 

8.1 Event occurring after the end of the reporting period 

Notes 

8.1 

8.2 

8.3 

8.4 

8.5 

8.6 

8.7 

8.8 

8.9 

9.1 

There were no events occurring after the end of the reporting date that Impact on the financial statements. 

8.2 Correction of prior period errors/changes in accounting policy 
There were no correction of prior period errors/changes in accounting policy that impact on the financial 

statements. 

8.3 Key management personnel 

The Commission has determined key management personnel to include cabinet ministers and senior 

officers of the Commission. The Commission does not incur expenditures to compensate Ministers and 

those disclosures may be found in the Annual Reporl on State Finances . 

The total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for senior officers of 

the Commission for the reporting period are presented within the following bands: 

Compensation band ($) 
310,001 - 320,000 

230,001 - 240,000 

200,001 - 210,000 

180,001 - 190,000 

170,001 -180,000 

160,001 -170,000 

150,001 - 160,000 

140,001 - 150,000 

Short-term employee benefits 

Post-employment benefits 

Other long-term benefits 

Termination benefits 

Total compensation of senior officers 

2022 

2 

1 

1 

1 

2022 
($000) 
1,005 

95 
24 

1,124 

2021 
1 

1 
1 
1 
1 
1 

2021 
($000) 
1,263 

109 
59 

1,431 

Total compensation includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Commission in respect of 

senior officers. 
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Related party transactions

Related parties of the Commission include:

Material transactions with other related parties

Related bodies
The Commission had no related bodies during the financial year. 

Affiliated bodies
The Commission had no affiliated bodies during the financial year. 

Special Purpose Accounts

2022 2021
($000) ($000)

Balance at the start of the period -                    -                    
Receipts -                    198                   
Payments -                    (198)                  
Balance at end of period -                    -                    
(a) Established under section 16(1)(d) of FMA

 associates and joint ventures of a wholly-owned public sector entity; and
 the Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB)

8.4

The Commission is a wholly owned public sector entity that is controlled by the State of Western
Australia. 

 all Cabinet ministers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities;
  all senior officers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities;
 other departments and statutory authorities, including related bodies that are included in the whole of 
government consolidated financial statements (i.e wholly-owned public sector entities);

Nomination Fees  (a)

8.7

The purpose of the account is to hold monies received by returning officers of the Western Australian
Electoral Commission pursuant to section 81(1)(b) of the Electoral Act 1907.
The Commission is responsible for collection of election candidate nomination fees. These fees are paid
directly to the Consolidated Account or refunded to candidates.

8.5

8.6

Outside of normal citizen type transactions with the Commission, there were no other related party
transactions that involved key management personnel and/or their close family members and/or their
controlled (or jointly controlled) entities. 
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8.8 Remuneration of auditors 

Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current financial year 
is as follows: 

Auditing the accounts, fi nancial statements, controls and key 

performance indicators 

8.9 Supplementary financial information 
(a) Write-offs 

During the year there were no write-offs. 

(b) Losses through theft, defaults and other causes 

During the year there were no thefts or defaults. 

(c) Gifts of public property 

During the year there were no gifts of public property. 

2022 
($000) 

52 

2021 

($000) 

48 
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9. Explanatory Statements 

This section explains variations in the financial performance of the Department. 

Explanatory statement for controlled operations 

Explanatory statement for administered items 

9.1 Explanatory statement for controlled operations 

Notes 

9.1 

9.2 

All variances between estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2022, and betNeen the actual results for 2022 and 2021 are 

shown below. Narratives are provided for key major variances, which are greater than 10% and $1 million for the Statement of 

Comprehensive Income (i.e. 1 % of $12,569,000), Cash Flows and are greater than 10% and 1% of Total Assets for the Statement of 

Financial Position (i.e. 1 % of $6,254,000). 

9.1.1 Statement of comprehensive income variances 

Variance Variance 

between between actual 

Variance Estimate Actual Actual actual and results for 2022 

Note 2022 2022 2021 estimate and 2021 

($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) 

Expenses 

Employee benefits expense 1,a 6,227 7,040 12,599 813 (5,559) 

Suppl ies and services 2.a 4,495 6 ,364 18,216 1,869 (11,852) 

Accommodation expense a 992 1,216 2 ,300 224 (1 ,084) 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 282 630 499 348 131 

Grants and subsidies b 20 17 5,050 (3) (5,033) 

Finance and interest costs 2 2 1 

Other expenses a 551 710 885 159 (1 75) 

Total cost of services 12,569 15,979 39,550 3,410 (23,571) 

Income 

Revenue 

Sale of goods and services 3,c 5,687 7,361 435 1,674 6,926 

Other revenue 1 2 2 

Total income other than income from State Government 5,688 7,363 435 1,675 6,928 

Net cost of services 6,881 8,616 39,1 15 1,735 (30,499) 

Income from State Government 

Service appropriation 4,d 7,351 8.203 37,359 852 (29,156) 

Services received free of charge 63 373 90 310 283 

Other Revenue 17 (17) 

Total Income from State Government 
7,431 8,576 37,449 1,145 (28,873) 

Surplus/(deficit) for the period 
550 (40) (1,666) (590) 1,626 
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Major Estimate and Actual (2022) Variance Narratives

1)

2)

3)

4)

Major Actual (2022) and Comparative (2021) Variance Narratives

a)

b)

c) 

d) 

Sale of goods and services increased significantly in 2022 due to the Ordinary Local Government Elections conducted in
October 2021. The amount of $7 million in 2021-22 represents the recovery cost of the Commission conducting the Ordinary
Local Government Elections in October 2021.

The grants and subsidies expense for 2021 represents the legislated reimbursement of political funding for the candidates
and/or political party who meet the threshold of 4% or more of first preference votes during the State General Election.

There was no State General Election held in 2021 - 22, hence the decrease in service appropriation.

Employee benefits expenses estimate was higher than the actual by $0.8 million due to higher than anticipated costs associated
with the Ordinary Local Government Elections.

Employee benefits, supplies and services, accommodation and other expenses decreased significantly in 2022 due to holding of
the State General Election in March 2021.

Supplies and services expense estimate was higher than the actual by $1.8 million due primarily to higher than anticipated
expenses associated with operating the Ordinary Local Government Elections. The $1.8 million variance mainly reflects postage
costs.

Sales of goods and services estimate was higher than the actual by $1.7 million due to higher than anticipated revenue
generated from the Ordinary Local Government Elections. 
The appropriation budget was higher than the actual due to Supplementary Funding of $1.2 million received during the year from
Government offset by $0.3 million not required for 'Election Commitment related to improved transparency for donation
disclosure' pending passage of legislative amendments.
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9.1.2 Statement of financia l position variances 

Variance Variance 

between between actual 

Variance Estimate Actual Actual estimate results for 2022 

Note 2022 2022 2021 and actual and 2021 

($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) 

Assets 

Current assets 

Cash and cash equiva lents 1,a 2,093 1,657 2,294 (436) (637) 

Receivables b 153 143 1.280 (10) (1,137) 

Amounts receivable for services 267 267 267 

Other - Prepayments 253 163 237 (90) (74) 

Total current assets 2,766 2,230 4,078 (536) (1,848) 

Non-current assets 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 90 94 76 4 18 

Amounts receivable fo r services 525 518 510 (7) 8 

Other• Prepayments 5 12 (5) (12) 

Plant and equipment 2 958 565 873 (393) (308) 

Right-of-use assets 44 32 44 12 

Intangible assets 1,910 1,864 1,905 (46) (41) 

Total non-current assets 3,488 3,085 3,408 (403) (323) 

Total assets 6,254 5,316 7,486 (938) (2,170) 

Liabilities 

Current liabilities 

Payables 80 372 127 292 245 

Provisions 1,135 1,175 1,406 40 (231) 

Other current liabilities C 73 2,185 (73) (2,185) 

Lease Liabilities 17 30 16 13 14 

Total current liabilities 1,305 1,577 3,734 272 (2,157) 

Non-current liabilities 

Provisions 218 211 182 (7) 29 

Borrowings and leases 20 14 16 (6) (2) 

Total Non-current liabilities 238 225 198 (13) 27 

Total llabilltles 1,543 1,802 3,932 259 (2,130) 

Net assets 4,711 3,514 3,554 (1,197) {40) 

Eguity 

Contributed equity 1,455 382 382 (1 ,073) 

Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 3,256 3,132 3,172 (124) (40) 

Other 

Total equity 4,711 3,514 3,554 (1,197) (40) 
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Major Estimate and Actual (2022) Variance Narratives: 

1) The cash actual was lower than the budget estimate due to higher than anticipated carry over costs from the State Election. 

2) The plant and equipment actual was lower than the budget estimate due to lower than anticipated purchases. 

Major Actual (2022) and Comparative (2021) Variance Narratives: 

a) Cash and cash equiivalents is lower in comparison to 2020 -21 figure due to the carry over of costs related to the State General 

Election held in 2021 -22. 

b) Receivables are lower due to GST receivab les carry over from the level of expenditure due to the State General Election held in 2021 

-22. 
c) Other current liability represents the Commission's accrued expenses. The Commission's accrued expenses have decreased by $2 

million due to invoices arising from the 2021 State General Election. 

9.1.3 Statement of Cash Flow Variances 

Variance Variance 

between between actual 

Variance Estimate Actual Actual estimate result.s for 2021 

Note 2022 2022 2021 and actual and 2020 

($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) 

Cash Flows from State Government 

Service appropriation 1,a 7,069 8,145 37,038 1,076 (28,893) 

Capital appropriations 22 14 (22) (14) 

Holding account drawdown 267 50 300 (217) (250) 

Receipt paid into Consolidated Account 

Other 17 (17) 

Net cash provided by State Government 

7,375 8,195 37,352 820 (29,157) 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 

Payments 

Employee benefits b (6,252) {7,116) (12,262) (864) 5,146 

Supplies and services 2,b (4,310) {7,588) (16,412) (3,278) 8,824 

Accommodation 2,b (992) (1 ,335) (2,176) (343) 841 

Grants and subsidies C (20) (17) (5,050) 3 5,033 

GST Payment on purchases 4,d (615) (981) (2,036) (366) 1,055 

Other payments b (648) (787) (846) (139) 59 

Finance and interest costs (2) (2) (1) (1) 

Receipts 

Sale of goods and services 3,e 5,687 7,414 432 1,727 6,982 

GST receipts on sales 4,d 615 733 43 118 690 

GST receipts from taxation authority 5,d 1,143 1,058 1,142 85 

Net cash provided by/(used In) operating activities 

(6,536) (8,536) (37,250) (2,000) 28,714 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 

Payments 

Purchase of non-current assets (267) (266) (1,312) 1,046 

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities 
(267) (266) (1,312) 1,046 
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Payments

 (22)          (10)        (18)         12              8                 

-        (342)       -             342             

-        (5,000)    -             5,000          
Receipts -         -             -              

-          -        5,000     -             (5,000)        

(22)          (10)        (360)       12              350             

550         (617)      (1,570)    (1,167)        953             

1,633      2,370    3,940     737            (1,570)        

2,183      1,752    2,370     (431)           (617)            
TRUE TRUE

953             
FALSE FALSE FALSE TRUE

Major Estimate and Actual (2022) Variance Narratives

1)

2)

3)

4)

5)

Major Actual (2022) and Comparative (2021) Variance Narratives

a)
b)

c) 

d)

Accommodation funding repayment by Agency

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

The grants and subsidies payments for 2020-21 represents the legislated reimbursement of political funding for the candidates
and/or political party who meet the threshold of 4% or more of first preference votes during the State General Election 2021.
There was no State General Election conducted in 2021-22.
The decrease in GST payments and GST receipts in 2021-22 is due to the lower level of payments in 2021-22 as there was no
State General Election held, partially offset by an increase in receipts as there were Ordinary Local Government Elections held in
October 2021.

The decrease in service appropriation for 2021-22 reflects funding adjustment for the State General Election.

Repayment of Treasurer's Advances

Proceeds from Treasurer's Advances
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalent

Estimates for both GST payments and GST receipts on sales were lower than the actual due to higher than anticipated payments
in 2021-22 arising from the completion of State General Election 2021 and the Ordinary Local Government Elections held in
October 2021.

Supplies and services and Accommodation estimates were lower than the actual due primarily to higher than anticipated
expenses associated with operating the Ordinary Local Government Elections. The variance reflects costs associated with
postage, printing and ballot papers.
Sales of goods and services estimate was lower than the actual due to higher than anticipated revenue generated by the
Ordinary Local Government Elections. 

Cash and cash equivalent at the beginning of the period

Cash and cash equivalent at the end of the period

The appropriation estimate was lower than the actual by $1.0 million due to Supplementary Funding of $1.2 million received
during the year from Government offset by $0.3 million not required for 'Election Commitment related to improved transparency
for donation disclosure' pending passage of legislative amendments.

Budget for GST taxation receipts was incorrect.

Payment for employee benefits, supplies and services, accommodation and other payments have decreased significantly in
comparison to 2020-21 mostly as there was no State General Election in 2021 - 22.

Repayment of borrowings and leases



             

78 2021–2022 ANNUAL REPORT WESTERN AUSTRALIAN ELECTORAL COMMISSION

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN ELECTORAL COMMISSION NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9. Administered disclosures

Notes
Disclosure of administered income and expenses by service 9.1
Explanatory statement for administered items 9.2

Administered income and expenses

2022 2021
($000) ($000)

Income
For transfer:
Regulatory fees and other charges 1,595        70                   
Total administered income 1,595        70                   

Expenses
Transfer payments(a) 1,595        -                  
Total administered expenses 1,595        -                  
(a)

Explanatory statement for administered items

Variance Variance
between between
estimate  actual

and results for 
Note 2022 2022 2021 actual 2022 and 2021

($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) ($000)

Income
For transfer:
Regulatory fees and other charges 1, a 800       1,595     70           795           1,525              
Total administered income 800       1,595     70           795           1,525              

Expenses
Transfer payments 1,a 800       1,595     -          795           1,595              
Total administered expense 800       1,595     -          795           1,595              

This explanatory section explains variations in the financial performance of the Department undertaking
transactions as an agent of the government, as detailed in the administered schedules.

9.1

9.2

Transfer payments represent the transfer of non-retainable regulatory fees to the Consolidated Account. These fees relate to the
State General Election 2021 non-voters fines.

All variances between annual estimates and actual results for 2022, and between the actual results for 2022
and 2021 are shown below. Narratives are provided for key major variances which vary by more than 10%
from their comparative and that the variation is more than 1% of the dollar aggregate of Total Administered
Income (i.e 1% of $1,595,000).

ActualVariance Estimate Actual

Income from administered items
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Major Estimate and Actual (2022) Variance Narratives:
1)

Major Actual (2022) and Comparative (2021) Variance Narratives:
a) 

Regulatory fees and charges represents payments arising from electors fined for not voting or for
multiple voting offences which were received by the Commission in late 2021-22. The actual was higher
than anticipated.

The 2022 actual represents the Non-Voter and Multivoter fines received by the Commission for the State
General Election 2021, some fines were paid in 2020 -21.
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